
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Thursday 8 September 2016 

Time 2.00 pm 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Kemi Badenoch AM 
Tom Copley AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 

David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Mark Roberts, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 31 August 2016 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Dale Langford, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 4415; Email: 
dale.langford@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell; Telephone: 020 7983 4228;  
Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Thursday 8 September 2016 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 

(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 48) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 13 July 2016 to be signed by the Chair as a correct 

record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 48 are attached for Members and 

officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 49 - 56) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Dale Langford, dale.langford@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4415 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:dale.langford@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 57 - 66) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Dale Langford; dale.langford@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4415 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the action taken by the Chair under 

delegated Authority, namely to agree: 

 

(a)  The appointment of John Stewart as Deputy Chair of London TravelWatch;  

    

(b) The scope and terms of reference for an investigation into road congestion in 

London;  

 

(c)  A letter to the former Secretary of State for Transport to request an update 

on plans for the devolution of suburban National Rail services to the Mayor 

and Transport for London, as set out at Appendix 2; and 

 

(d)  A letter of support to the Secretary of State for Transport in connection with 

the Transport and Works Act Order for the proposed extension of the London 

Overground to Barking Riverside, as set out at Appendix 3. 
 
 

6 Traffic Congestion (Pages 67 - 74) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4199  
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
(a)  Note the terms of reference for an investigation into traffic congestion, as 

set out at paragraph 4.2 of the report; 
 
(b) Note the report, put questions on traffic congestion to the invited guests and 

note the discussion. 
 
 

7 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 75 - 78) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4199 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note its work programme, as set out in the report; and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to respond to the Network Rail consultation on the draft West 

Midlands and Chilterns route study. 
 

mailto:dale.langford@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Tuesday, 11 October 2016 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2016 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 September 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Kemi Badenoch AM  

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 17 June 2016.] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Dale Langford, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4415 

E-mail: dale.langford@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Wednesday 13 July 2016 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

Present: 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Kemi Badenoch AM 
Tom Copley AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
David Kurten AM 
Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Joanne McCartney AM. 

  

1.2 The Chair announced that the Deputy Chair of London TravelWatch, Ruth Thompson, had 

died a few days earlier and paid tribute to her contribution to London TravelWatch during her 

three and a half years on the Board and to transport in London.   

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1  Resolved: 
 
 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 13 July 2016 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 15 June 2016 
be signed by the Chair as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 
That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Deputy Mayor for Transport (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the Deputy Mayor for Transport, Valerie Shawcross CBE. 

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.3 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the following further 

information in writing: 

 Details of the work Transport for London and London Councils were undertaking on 

integration and joint commissioning of door-to-door transport, including Taxicard;  

 A timetable for the review of bus routes; and 

 The criteria and terms of reference for the review of London Underground ticket office 

closures. 

 

5.4 The Chair also asked that London Councils be contacted for a copy of their Transport and 

Environment Committee report on joint commissioning of door-to-door transport. 

 

5.5 The Chair additionally thanked the Deputy Mayor for Transport for her commitment to work 

transparently. 

 

5.6 Resolved: 

 

 That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 13 July 2016 

 

 
 

6   Motorcycle Safety (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the response from Transport for London to the Committee’s report on 

motorcycle safety be noted. 

 
 
7   Travelling with a Sensory Impairment (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the response from Transport for London to the Committee’s report on 

travelling with a sensory impairment be noted. 

 
 
8   London TravelWatch Performance Monitoring Report (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following guests from London TravelWatch about their performance 

monitoring report for 2015/16: 

 Glyn Kyle, Board Member; and 

 Janet Cooke, Chief Executive. 

 

8.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

8.3 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the performance against the agreed objectives of London TravelWatch 
during 2015/16 be noted; and 

 
(b) That the financial outturn position of London TravelWatch as at 31 March 

2016 be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 13 July 2016 

 

 
 

9   London TravelWatch Board Member Recruitment (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

9.2 It was noted that, following the death of London TravelWatch’s Deputy Chair, an additional 

vacancy for Board Member, with a term ending in December 2018 would need to be filled. 

 

9.3 It was agreed that the panel to conduct the Board Member recruitment should include the 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, subject to availability for interview dates. 

 

9.4 Resolved: 

 

(a) That a panel, with the Chair and party Group Lead Members as members, hold 

interviews for the appointment to three of the London TravelWatch Board 

Member positions for a period of four years until 31 December 2020 and an 

additional appointment for a period of two years until 31 December 2018; and  

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the other panel 

members, to agree the appointments to the Board of London TravelWatch, 

following interviews. 

 
 
10   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

10.2 Following the discussion with the Deputy Mayor for Transport on the urgency of devolving 

suburban rail services to London, the Committee agreed that the Chair should write to the 

Secretary of State for Transport to request an update. 

 

10.3 Resolved: 

 
(a) That the work programme for 2016/17 be noted; and 

  
(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree a letter to the Secretary of State for Transport to 
request an update on plans for the devolution of suburban National Rail 
services to the Mayor and Transport for London. 

 
 
11   Date of Next Meeting (Item 11) 

 

11.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday 8 September 2016 at 

2.00pm, in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 13 July 2016 

 

 
 

 
12   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 12) 

 
12.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
13   Close of Meeting  

 
13.1 The meeting ended at 12.30pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Dale Langford, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 4415; 

Email: dale.langford@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Transport Committee – 13 July 2016 
 

Transcript of Item 5 – Deputy Mayor for Transport 
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us move on, then, to our main item today, which is our first 

opportunity to have an in-depth session with the new Deputy Mayor for Transport, our former Chair of the 

Transport Committee, Valerie Shawcross CBE.  Welcome, Val.  We are delighted to see you in a different role 

today.  Thank you so much for coming before our Committee today and we look forward to having a really 

good relationship with you over the next four years. 

 

We have about 10 or 11 question areas, as you would expect, and I am going to start off with what I think will 

be quite an easy opener for you.  It is to get a feel from you.  In four years’ time, what are going to be the 

main improvements to transport that passengers can expect? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Thank you, Chair.  Can I just share your 

condolences on the death of Ruth Thompson [Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch].  She was a really fantastic 

woman who made a big contribution and I was really shocked to hear that.  It is very, very sad. 

 

I do appreciate the invitation, although I do not expect an easy time because I know that that is not how the 

Transport Committee works.  Two months in, we have just put together our very first draft outline of what, I 

think, will be the transport section of the ‘New Directions’ document.  In that, we talk about what we want to 

achieve and what we think we can achieve over not just this term but looking forward to a longer Mayor’s 

Transport Strategy period.  We have been thinking about, in the round, the large projects as well as those 

specific improvements that we need to make.  Part of the trick is about putting systems in place for better 

delivery and better services in the long run as well as dealing with those urgent things that are going on now. 

 

Quickly to run down a few of the things that we aim to deliver not just for passengers but for Londoners in 

general and in the round, we aim to deliver not just a cycling programme but a refreshed programme that 

focuses on walking and cycling around the concept of ’healthy streets’ as good places to live as well as to walk, 

to cycle and to use pedestrian facilities.  It is a much broader focus there. 

 

We certainly expect to deliver most of - and we can go into detail on this - a major pedestrianisation scheme 

for Oxford Street.  We will have major projects at the door of delivery - and we can talk about this in more 

detail - like Crossrail 2.  We have been getting on with that.  We will continue to deliver the fares freeze on 

Transport for London (TfL) services.  We will be making sure that things like ticketing and customer services 

are up to scratch and that might mean some specific actions in the short term.  We will be continuing to deliver 

on the modernisation programme on the Tube. 

 

The customer service starts at your front door.  It starts with how well the environment you walk in and the bus 

service or Tube service you get onto is running.  It depends on the reliability of the roads network.  We will be 

making sure that the experience people have in the ticket hall, for want of a better phrase, is good and then 

that actually we deliver capacity improvements that make the journeys less crushed and overcrowded, and 

certainly that the services are reliable.  I am sure that you will want to dig into some of the details on all of 

that. 

 

Page 11



 

 

One of the crosscutting areas that we are very determined to deliver on is air quality.  Although it is not 

entirely falling to transport, I think you will understand that we very quickly got on with some cross-party 

cross-thematic working to get the programme for the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) consultation out.  The 

biggest part of that for me has been getting an accelerated programme on the modernisation of the bus fleet 

started and we are making the delivery of clean air from the buses and a cleaner bus fleet a very high priority 

for the modernisation of the bus fleet.  There will be a rapid acceleration of change there. 

 

There are a lot of plates to spin and forgive me, Chair, if I have skated over that very quickly.  There are some 

things that we have been doing that the customer will not see straight away but the long-term health of the 

organisation, TfL, will be in a better place in terms of its delivery, its efficiency and its focus on things like 

customer care for the future. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Fantastic.  We will get, as you can imagine, into a lot of the detail on 

those specifics you have mentioned. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, I appreciate that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is really music to many of our ears hearing some of the work on 

walking and cycling, but we will pick that one a bit later. 

 

Is TfL in a place that it is able to deliver these?  What organisational changes are you going to have to make to 

ensure that they deliver and that they are fit for purpose? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  My general take on it is that it is a very reliable, 

sound organisation that does want to deliver.  However, as a former council leader I have felt the more I have 

dug around inside it that many of the modernisation changes and the efficiency changes that have taken place 

in the wider public sector have not, up until this stage, affected it in the way that they have affected the rest 

of the public sector.  Some of that is good and some of that is bad. 

 

There is an organisational streamlining to be done.  There are very many layers of management.  Some of the 

people who are managers have very narrow bands of control.  There is a massive degree of ‘siloisation’ still, 

which we are addressing - and that comes from its history of being part of a number of different organisations 

and being stitched together - to turn it from a Frankenstein’s organisation into one organisation that works for 

passengers, customers and Londoners. 

 

Financial efficiency, certainly, and looking at things like tightness around the contracting, getting the best 

possible prices in on those contracts and all of that is due for tightening.  That is all underway and I have to 

pay tribute to the fantastic work of Ian Nunn, the new Finance Director, who has absolutely the right approach 

and ideas and is very systematic in doing all of that.  It is that internal efficiency, the internal joined-up-ness of 

the services.  We are going to reflect that in the structure of the TfL board. 

 

I talked about this at the interview that you gave me [Confirmation Hearings Committee, 9 June 2016] and so I 

am not sure how much more you want me to tell you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I was going to move on to how you will approach this and the Mayor in 

terms of working with TfL and then look at the whole Board and senior management and making sure that it is 

more diverse and that you have the right skills you need. 

 

Page 12



 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Absolutely.  The recruitment process is well 

underway for the Board.  We are just about to carry out some interviews. 

 

We had a fantastic number of people who applied.  It does speak well of the process and actually just 

advertising and seeing who is out there and who wants to help.  We have had a proper skills matrix and so we 

know that we are going for people with financial skills, with audit skills and with insights into project 

management as well as issues like industrial relations and human resources.  We know what we are looking for 

and we know we are looking for people who will give serious attention to the job. 

 

We also know that this is going to be a diverse Board.  It is going to be at least 50:50 men to women and it will 

be more reflective of London.  Also, they will be people who are committed to making this organisation work 

for London.  We are well underway there. 

 

I know that there have been a lot of disappointed people already because we have had to have a three-stage 

sifting process.  We will be in a position to announce all of those appointments in September 2016 and I am 

very grateful to a number of the existing Board members who allowed us to roll them forward to keep the 

organisation functioning in a legal way. 

 

Therefore, that is happening.  I expect that the Board will take a very big role in scrutinising the revenue 

budget as well as the project budgets, which has always been the focus, and I am considering that we might 

ask some of those people to come inside TfL to help with the working groups and processes around the cost-

reduction programme.  We have a bit of an internal challenge in the same way that an elected member in a 

local authority might hold a Star Chamber and add some grit to the oyster for some of those conversations 

about efficiency.  I am hoping that some of these Board members will help with that.  We certainly want to use 

it to help drive forward issues like equalities and equal opportunities for the organisation. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Brilliant.  We look forward to seeing all of that as it develops.  Let us 

move into some of our specific areas.   

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  It is good to see you again.  Thanks for coming down to 

Gallows Corner the other day. 

 

You know that TfL has announced certain efficiencies that it is going to make, but clearly that is not going to 

reach all of the goals that are necessary.   So I was just wondering, are there any TfL projects or investments 

that may be at risk if you do not get the increased revenue or you do not find the savings? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Keith, you know that you can only spend what 

you have or what you can borrow.  We have a really strong and secure savings process in place.  You will see 

that there have been some early-stage savings taken already because we feel that the sooner we make savings 

the better.  We have a strong process in place that will roll forward over the years.  We expect this to be like 

painting the Forth Bridge.  We will be carrying on finding efficiencies. 

 

At the moment, the focus is on getting the business plan ready for November 2016 and we are looking at some 

big choices for the Mayor and big savings to be made before the end of July 2016, almost in advance of that 

process so that we are putting ourselves in a much stronger position. 

 

You will have seen - and I was very sorry to have done this, really, but - we will not be employing conductors, 

for example, on the Routemaster buses.  Every effort will be made to assist those staff to find other jobs within 

Page 13



 

 

the transport sector in London.  However, that is the kind of thing that we have to shine a harsh light on and 

say, “If we are going to be an efficient organisation, we will look at everything, large and small”. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  If I could just ask on that, given the loss of the Department for 

Transport (DfT) grant, which will require a £2.8 billion saving over the next four years, are you confident that 

you can still deliver on the Mayor’s partial fares freeze that he has committed to and the new Hopper tickets? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Absolutely.  I am totally confident.  That is a 

known-about income reduction and there has been planning for it.  Our anticipation around the cost-reduction 

programme is that we can - I will not say “easily” - cover the costs both of the TfL fares freeze and of the 

reduction in revenue.  It will take a lot of active work, but you know that that work needed to be done. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I have one small point.  It is about the recruitment.  Keith asked about the conductors 

on the Routemasters and you have taken the view to relocate them elsewhere and so the Routemaster buses 

will not have the conductors on them.  That is correct. 

 

As someone who gets a childlike enjoyment from hanging off a Number 11 going down Victoria Street to New 

Scotland Yard, the wind through his ever-thinning hair, what does that mean, in essence, for the Routemaster 

as it stands?  For a start, you will not be opening the back doors because you will not have the conductors.  Is 

that logically moving to a place where the new Routemasters themselves will be decommissioned?  What is the 

future of the Routemasters?  I will ask you that question. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The new Routemasters? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Considering that it was an issue that we used to 

talk about a lot in opposition, it is not one that I have spent an awful lot of time on.  Those Routemasters are 

being kept in service.  They fall just below the Euro 6 standard for air quality but they are very high on the 

scale for Euro 5 and so they are not the most polluting vehicles in London by a big stretch.  Therefore, we will 

run them for their full lives, but they have had to have modifications, as you know, there were problems with 

the batteries, etc.  That fleet is there and it will be run. 

 

However, already TfL had stopped putting conductors on the new rollouts because it is a big revenue cost.  If 

you look at the value that having that back door actually offers to the passengers, the research showed that 

there was not a very big demand from our customers.  If we are going to be serious about making cuts, we 

have to test the value of what is happening.  However, the Routemasters are there and they will stay there. 

 

The previous Mayor [Boris Johnson MP], as you know, purchased up to 1,000 and some of those are still to be 

delivered, but that was for the purpose of regaining the intellectual property rights.  Now TfL has those 

intellectual property rights and can use them in partnership with other manufacturers or with the same 

manufacturer to take components out of that design that have been successful and maybe see them used 

elsewhere. 

 

By and large, my view is that there is a lot of cost in being original.  Why would you take research and 

development risks when there are fantastic new technologies coming online that are being mass-produced and 

Page 14



 

 

are affordable and reliable?  That is generally a good rule for a public organisation: let somebody else take the 

risk. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It is just a shame.  They were designed and the public welcomed them at the time, I 

believe, but I do not have the figures.  They were there for a purpose.  It was a previous mayoral commitment.  

Just for the record, it is a shame that we will not be having those -- 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  I agree. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is your view.  I am not sure that I agree with that.  Can you just 

confirm that the order for 195 of them that was put through just before the election is still going ahead?  Are 

you still buying those? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Because we need the intellectual property rights 

and the contractor has said that 1,000 is the mark where we would get them, then that is going ahead.  Of 

course, there are commitments to the workforce and -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You own them as well.  TfL owns the buses, unlike -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Unlike the rest, yes. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, that is right, but I do not envisage us buying 

any new ones of this particular design.  Clearly, we are actively looking at refreshing the bus fleet and 

retrofitting it very much faster than we used to.  The whole concept of what kind of buses the service should 

be running is very live for us at the moment. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  The previous Mayor had a rather contradictory position on the Routemasters, which was 

that he was creating a bespoke, iconic bus for London but he also wanted to sell them overseas to other cities, 

which seemed to be a slightly contradictory thing. 

 

When we are talking about the intellectual property rights - I do not think that he was particularly successful in 

selling them overseas - is there any scope for doing that or do you see it more, as you were saying, as selling 

the individual pieces of technology and maybe recouping some of the cost that went into it from that? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The whole problem with the unit cost of those 

buses was that they were not rollout-able on a mass scale and that was about things like the fact that there 

was a third door. 

 

I take the point about the contradiction there.  You want something unique but, actually, you want to 

mass-produce it so that you can make it cheaply.  I think, the ownership of the intellectual property rights 

could prove to be quite useful for the future and we are looking, as part of our commitment to trying to 

maximise any commercial opportunities from TfL, at intellectual property rights and what we can do with them.  

I could not off the top of my head at the moment tell you exactly where we will go with that. 

 

However, you will have seen that we have just done a deal on the technology around contactless, which TfL 

had produced.  That has yielded some money specifically at the moment, but we have also kept the right to 

reuse that technology ourselves.  We have tried to have our cake and eat it, according to the policy of our 

predecessor. 

 

Page 15



 

 

Tom Copley AM:  The previous Mayor said he was very much in favour of that. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  You can see that some of that technology will 

now be deployed and rolled out in Australia, for example.  Equally, we will be looking for what we can use and 

sell elsewhere. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I am just looking forward to them having opening windows. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Opening windows?  I will let you know, Tom. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Could I ask you about the Emirates cable car?  Are you planning to 

continue to run that?  Do you know what future lies ahead for that? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I have not specifically sought that one out to look 

into at the moment, Keith.  I do not feel under any pressure to do anything different with that at the moment.  

If you cease to see it as a public transport service but as, basically, an iconic and pleasant tourist experience, 

then that is fine.  We do have to think about our tourists in London because they are an important part of the 

living that many people earn, but we do not have any plans to sell it at the moment. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  It would be useful if it went somewhere, would it not, really? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  You should take it up to the helter-skelter at the Olympic Park.  That would be a brilliant 

tourist attraction. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Keith, it would not have been our top priority.  

Since it is there and is functioning and it has a place and people are getting used to it, we wish it success. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Could I just tease a little bit more out of you on the budget, if you 

would bear with me? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, of course. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  So far, you have identified about £120 million worth of savings and 

we know that the Mayor’s partial fare freeze is going to be £640 million.  Have you any idea when you will be 

able to announce more big savings?  The work on the contactless and £15 million is very good. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I am taking a package of big savings proposals, 

the early hits, to the Mayor before the end of July 2016 and so that is being worked up.  The business plan will 

be published in November 2016.  It will be a five-year business plan and so that will give you the shape of 

things. 

 

I think everybody around this table for many years has felt that TfL could be a much more efficient 

organisation.  It is a great organisation but it could be much more efficient and that is what we are doing.  We 

are working out where the fat is -- 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  A leaner, meaner TfL? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  A leaner and more effective organisation, yes. 

 

Page 16



 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  We will move on to traffic congestion now. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  First of all, just briefly, could you say whether your understanding is that we have a 

problem of too much traffic or too much congestion? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is both because there is essential traffic and 

there is inessential traffic.  I feel that we have a congestion crisis at the moment and we have a roads reliability 

plan underway to try to deal with that in the short term, but the long-term solution does lie around achieving 

modal shift as far as possible.  In the long run we are in the business of getting our growing population with 

our growing economy to walk more, to use cycles more and to use public transport more, and to spread the 

demand around London and around different times of the day.  However, in the short term we do have a 

congestion crisis and that is affecting the bus services, apart from anything else.  Also, it makes London’s roads 

less safe and it certainly does add to air pollution.  Therefore, we are trying to improve the congestion situation 

over the next six months, but for the long run, strategically, you will see in the New Directions document that 

we are aiming to achieve a degree of modal shift. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Great.  Thank you.  There are all sorts of projects that TfL has planned and I just 

wondered what your thinking is on these.  For instance, the previous Mayor was considering a lot of major road 

tunnels, which I would suggest would increase the traffic and therefore increase congestion.  I just wondered 

what your plans are.  Do you have any plans for any of the road tunnels that the former Mayor was looking at? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I do not want to get too far ahead of the New 

Directions document, but I have to say that in general most of the Roads Task Force’s proposals on road 

tunnelling were - if you want a technical term for it - bonkers and had no cost-benefit case behind them.  Why 

would we spend hundreds and hundreds of millions of pounds doing some of these schemes when we could be 

putting more public transport services in place? 

 

Having said that, the reason why I do not want to get too ahead of the plan is that if we look specifically at 

particular locations where there is an environmental issue that we could improve or an opportunity for oversite 

development that would join up a larger area, there might be specific locations - I am thinking of one on the 

north side of the river, out east - where there might be a case, but it does need a lot to go into that case to 

make it worthwhile: “Is it an environmental improvement?  Does it give us some regeneration capabilities?  

Does it improve safety?” 

 

However, by and large, I cannot see us wishing to do a major programme of tunnelling in London.  It is not 

something that you would want to argue for, is it? 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  No, indeed.  You have mentioned air pollution and the Mayor has his current air 

pollution consultation going on.  One of the things that has not come up in that is any possibility of road 

pricing.  That is one way that can be very equitable of cleaning up the air and also reducing the amount of 

traffic.  Is road pricing something that is in the mix in terms of thinking about the strategy going forward? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Actually, the T-charge (Toxicity Charge) is part of 

that mix.  The Mayor said in his manifesto that the Congestion Charge would stay at its current level where it 

is, but the addition of a pollution charge for the most polluting vehicles within the Congestion Charge will be a 

step forward and sends a message about the direction of change in London.  That is quite an important one. 

 

Page 17



 

 

For major infrastructure, for example a river crossing, we know that we would need to see - and we are looking 

at this - some kind of fare or tolling.  It would be about demand management, it would be about repayment 

and an income for the project and it would also be about air quality issues.  It is a tool that is there to be used 

if we feel a need for it.  However, broadly, the Congestion Charge Zone will be staying the same. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Road pricing tends to be very small payments but it is based on the distance travelled, 

how polluting your engine is, the time of day and the area where you are travelling.  If you are driving on a 

road where there are not many public transport alternatives, the price is lower than somewhere in the centre of 

London where there are lots of alternatives and it is very easy to walk, cycle or take the Tube or the bus. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There are also questions about what you can 

achieve in four years reliably.  For example, if we do go ahead with the extension of the ULEZ, it will require a 

major investment in detection technology around the South and North Circular and so that is a major capital 

programme with major cost.  It will be really important to deliver because we know we have an air quality crisis.  

It would be a very big achievable thing for the Mayor’s first term. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  The idea of a workplace parking levy is something that has been done in 

Nottingham very successfully and it paid for a new tram system.  It is a way of getting people who are driving, 

contributing to air pollution and contributing to congestion to contribute something to the TfL pot of money 

to be spent on the transport system. 

 

Do you have any plans to talk to the people in Nottingham about how a workplace parking levy might work? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The Greater London Authority (GLA) Act did 

make workplace parking a potential tool.  It is in the Act.  However, at the moment, as you all know, the 

Congestion Charge income does get spent on public transport.  At the moment, we have no plans to further 

extend that. 

 

If we drill into what have been the big growth-pushers for vehicular traffic in central London, there is a lot to 

be done homing in on what those causes are and trying to be a bit more diagnostic about what the problem is.  

We have talked previously at this Committee about the growth of internet delivery traffic.  What can we do 

with that?  What can we do about setting up freight depots and freight consolidation or transferring freight to 

the river and freight to rail?  There are things like the unsustainable growth of minicab traffic in London.  I fear 

some mode-shift away from the bus services.  What can we do to make the bus services faster and more 

efficient so that people are attracted back to them? 

 

There is a balance in the stick-and-carrot approach and we also have to provide the positives for people to 

choose to take them.  That is also about the cycling and walking investment that we want to put in as well.  At 

the moment, we have a balanced programme and that is what we aim to do. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  On road pricing, I have a couple of issues.  First of all, on the 

proposed tunnel that will start around Blackwall and end up in Silvertown, one of the ways that is suggested of 

funding that is that it should be tolled.  I do not have a problem with that, but the other suggestion is that all 

of the crossings from Tower Bridge to the east are tolled.  That is grossly unfair on people from my 

constituency [Havering and Redbridge].  We have no way of crossing the river without having to pay a fare, 

whereas everybody to the west of Tower Bridge goes for free.  There should be some equalisation. 

 

Page 18



 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  That is not a proposal at the moment, Keith.  Part 

of the Mayor’s review of the proposal for the Silvertown Tunnel is looking specifically at that as one 

workstream.  What would be fair, equitable and sensible in terms of tolling?  That is one of the workstreams at 

the moment.  There is not anything on the table that I can talk to you about, but I hear what you are saying. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Also, people in the east have been charged excessively for crossing 

at Dartford.  That should have been free a long time ago. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Dartford is not TfL’s, as you know. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  No, I understand that, but I am just making the point. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It took them a long time to get the new 

technology in there as well, didn’t it? 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  It did, yes.  Just on the ULEZ and it being extended out to the North 

and South Circulars, will there be any residential exemptions at all for that? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Those things will get discussed as part of the 

consultation.  At the moment, we do not have any detail to give you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  It is worth thinking about, though, isn’t it? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  As part of the consultation, it will be one of the 

things that I am sure will be discussed. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You will consider that with all of the other things that come in? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  It is a bit early days, actually, Keith, for me 

to comment. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  That was helpful. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Good morning.  I would just first of all pick up on Keith’s point about the ULEZ.  That 

might have a devastating effect on small businesses, particularly van-owners who have bought a van, say, in 

2014 and who will not be able to afford to upgrade and to get a van of the new standards to be exempt from 

the ULEZ charges. 

 

Do you have any plans to support those businesses that might be affected by the implementation? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There is, obviously, concern about how to clean 

up diesels.  Basically, we would like to see scrappage schemes and also we would like to see some clear 

national standards on retrofitting.  A lot of vehicles can be retrofitted up to the ULEZ standard.  We are 

concerned about the transition and how people will be able to make it. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Would that be a scrappage scheme run by the Mayor or TfL or would it just be a call for 

the national Government to do something? 

 

Page 19



 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  David, I am at the early stage of the consultation.  

I am not really able, genuinely, to give you a lot of detail on that. 

 

David Kurten AM:  OK.  I would just like to pick up on something else you said about the T-charge being a 

charge on the most polluting vehicles but, as I understand it, it is going to be something that is imposed as a 

blanket charge on vehicles registered before 2006. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Before 2005. 

 

David Kurten AM:  OK, 2005.  However, many vehicles that were registered before 2005 are not high-

polluting vehicles.  Do you have any plans to not charge lower-emission vehicles? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  One of the core problems we have with this and 

the reason why there is a date given is that there is not a Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) 

database.  There is not a real emissions test database attached to the DVLA.  It is not possible to use that to 

get the fine-grain detail on what the real-world emissions are. 

 

One of the things we have talked to the Government about is getting that done because I agree with you that 

it would be so much better if we had on a national database the emissions standard of the age, type and model 

of every vehicle.  Then it would be easier to determine whether or not it qualified.  Until we have that 

database, it gets difficult to do anything more subtle, but certainly that is one of the things that we have been 

talking to the Government about.  It sees that problem because we have said that if we are having this 

problem, there are other areas in the UK that are concerned about emissions and they will also need access to 

the same database.  In London, 50% of the traffic is not from London but from elsewhere in the country. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Would it not be better to wait until you have such a database to implement it?  Then it 

would be fairer.  I am thinking of -- 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We have an air quality crisis, David.  Sorry, I 

talked over you then.  It is not fair on the children of London that they are breathing in pollution.  It is not fair 

that there is so much ill-health and, sadly, death caused by air pollution in London.  The Mayor is trying to get 

on with this as quickly as we can.  It is a strong message - some people would say it is not strong enough - that 

actually diesel is a problem and we need to clean up all of our vehicles in London, be they domestic or 

business, and people need to build that into their plans for the future. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Our next two meetings are going to be focused on congestion and 

really trying to get behind some of that.  Car clubs: do you see them as being one way to help in all of this? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I think we have all generally been supportive of 

car clubs because we see them as a way of people not buying cars.  There is an alternative.  If you want to use 

a car occasionally, you do not actually have to buy one.  If you have bought a car and licensed it, etc, you have 

an incentive to use it.  Certainly around inner London, they have been seen as a good option for people who 

do not want to buy a car but want to use one occasionally, but that is on the current business model where 

they park up with council permission in certain locations and they have a little badged area that they use. 

 

I am a bit concerned and we have asked TfL to take a look at how the business model around car clubs might 

be set to change because some of the car clubs are looking at a new business model, which is that they park 

car club cars all over the place, not in defined locations, and leave them as massively available.  We are looking 

at more information about that because that shift of business model might be a step too far and will go in the 

Page 20



 

 

wrong direction in terms of re-encouraging people to drive a private car when there is an alternative available.  

Under the current business model, the view is positive about them. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It has a role to play, yes. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  However, if they change the business model, we 

need to look at that really hard because modal shift starts to apply then.  Are they reducing car use or are they 

increasing it?  It is not good or viable in central London in particular but everywhere for private cars to be 

increased. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you for that.  We are going to move on to the next area looking 

specifically at Oxford Street.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  At our first Transport Committee meeting we had a range of people discussing how 

we would look at Oxford Street and pedestrianisation and some of the issues you have already touched on 

around air quality and around congestion, which all have a major impact on Oxford Street.  The reality is that 

there are 500,000 people using Oxford Street on a daily basis and over 270 buses.  With the amount of taxis 

and the amount of other people using it, pedestrian safety and air quality are all big issues. 

 

In terms of that big commitment from Sadiq [Khan, Mayor of London] on pedestrianisation, how likely do you 

think that that is going to happen before 2020? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The outline proposal that we are working with the 

local partners on now is basically to get Oxford Street pedestrianised in three tranches.  This is all provisional 

and it is very early days, but it would mean getting the two big tranches - Oxford Street East from the new 

Crossrail station into Oxford Circus first and Oxford Street West stopping just short of Marble Arch second, 

which would be over three quarters of Oxford Street - done before 2020.  The last bit at the Marble Arch end 

going up to Marble Arch Station is a bit more complex and would probably fall over into the post-election 

period, but the proposal is to go from Marble Arch to Tottenham Court Road.  We have been talking about 

that enhanced ambition to all of the partners in there and of course, principally, Westminster Council, whose 

road it is. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  The Committee went out and did a site visit -- 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Good. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  -- just to get the full scale of the different challenges that would come up.  It is 

good that it is going to be in phases, but have there been any discussions in terms of whether the Mayor and 

you would be looking at part-pedestrianisation instead of full pedestrianisation? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We have probably done more on this particular 

project than most of the others.  We have had a lot of contact with Westminster Council, with the New West 

End [Company] partnership, with the West End Partnership (WEP) itself and with the business community.  

There is quite a lot being looked at and quite a lot, in consequence, going on within TfL. 

 

It seemed to me that the blockage and the resistance that there was around the delivery of the 

pedestrianisation of Oxford Street has been around this issue of how we deploy bus services in central London.  

I am a big fan and a supporter of public buses and we need a great bus service, but the way we do it in middle 

and outer London and the way we do it in central London has to be different.  We have to be smarter because, 

Page 21



 

 

if we intensify routes going out down the radial lines, we completely congest central London.  You do not have 

to be an enemy of the bus to walk around and think, “Wow, look at all these buses.  Do we need all of these?”  

TfL had become stuck in a bit of a time warp - God bless them - in thinking about the bus services in central 

London. 

 

I do not want to lose any resources overall for buses, but I can tell you that there is plenty of demand for more 

buses and frequencies further out and so we have been looking at doing a very complex job of combing the 

buses out.  That would mean, basically, not going to Westminster and saying, “All of these buses that are 

running this way are going to run down Wigmore Street”.  What we are doing is going back and saying that if 

we look at a heat map around Oxford Street for some distance, we need to reduce the bus movements in that 

area much more substantially - certainly in advance of the opening of the Crossrail station in 2018 because 

there will be massive pedestrian congestion - but then to deliver on Oxford Street.  That means more 

interchanges, turn-backs and changes to the routes, but it is a complex problem because we also have to 

deliver people to work and to shop at Oxford Street.  As soon as you start saying, “Let us plan the buses in 

central London around this smarter approach”, it does liberate quite a lot of thinking about giving ground back 

to pedestrians not just in Oxford Street but in adjacent areas and improving the public realm. 

 

There are a lot of businesses and people who live around there.  Things like service traffic and delivery traffic 

might mean that we could look at options for daytimes and night-times or after 9.00pm access.  That affects 

the designs that we are using.  However, we have to be realistic about this.  The city also has to function.  We 

also have to look at where taxis could go because taxis are quite important for the shops and accessibility as 

well. 

 

It is a complex problem, but we have broken it open in principle by saying that we will be looking at doing 

some serious redesigning of the buses in central London.  We are starting to get some “hoorays” on that one.  

People are starting to say, “That is good and could you look at the Strand?”  One of the things that opens it 

up for us is the Hopper ticket. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is what we have said for years.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  You can understand why people want to hang on 

to their seat on that bus from start to finish if every time they change bus they are getting charged more on a 

pay-as-you-go.  However, if you can interchange and you can surf from one route to the next, you do not 

necessarily need to go on a bus that is going to go straight through Oxford Street to the other side.  You can 

change here and go around it.  There is some liberation of thinking around bus planning and I am very 

optimistic that that has been going down well. 

 

I was very pleased that at one of the meetings I was at there was a residents’ representative there and I was 

waiting for him to say, “We do not want our street congested by buses with the noise and the pollution and all 

of that”, but he said to me, “Actually, I am really concerned to make sure that we have enough buses in our 

area”.  Yes, do not worry.  We have to come up with a plan that works for the shops, that works for the 

businesses, works for the residents and works for people who want to get around London and certainly a plan 

that Westminster Council will feel that it can promote to its electorate. 

 

I think it can be done, but we do not achieve new things by going back and doing them the same way we have 

always done them.  The paradigm shift on this one is changing the thinking about bus route planning.  Does 

that ... 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Yes, that has covered it. 

Page 22



 

 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Is that what you felt when you talked to ... 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Yes.  Again, there are so many different stakeholders in this and it is about making 

sure that everyone is fully engaged.  A big bang approach may not work in Oxford Street.  It is not going to be 

right. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It would have to be achieved over time, but it 

opens up the prospects for doing it now.  Having said that, Florence, I have to do a presentation to the Mayor 

on this on Thursday and I am hoping that he will be happy with where we are on this. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Yes.  One thing I wanted to add as well is that when we had a range of people 

discussing this at the Committee in June 2016, it was around the issue that a number of pedestrians are not 

mobile and a number of them get on the bus because taking that step, whether it is from Selfridge’s to John 

Lewis, is quite a walk for them.  When we are designing and changing some of those bus routes, it is making 

sure that you and TfL are thinking about the range of pedestrians that we do want using Oxford Street and 

making sure that we are not closing off Oxford Street to some passengers. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Disability access is high on our agenda for the 

whole service, not just for Oxford Street, and it does require thinking.  Of course, Crossrail itself will be 

providing enormous east-west capacity and, thanks to the work of this Committee, it will be 100% disability 

accessible.  There will be improvements, for example, in Tottenham Court Road that will make it better for 

Tube passengers.  That helps.  Thinking about access for taxis helps.  There will be some bus services in the 

area, but it will not be of the order and, also, we are talking about parallel running. 

 

This is not within my brief, but I would say that a lot of really good shopping centres run mobility schemes.  

They provide scooters and stuff. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  A door-to-door service, yes. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Again, I do not run Oxford Street’s businesses, 

but the truth is that Oxford Street is now competing with the likes of the rather fabulous Westfields where 

there is a much more holistic look at the shoppers’ needs and experiences that Oxford Street, maybe, needs.  

They have been doing some good things -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Is there something that in particular that you want to push? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  That is part of the conversations that we have 

been having because one of the things that we have been suggesting to them is that we need more car-free 

days.  The comment back from the business community is that we have to look at it from a business point of 

view as well.  If it is a good experience and is thematic and brings people in and people shop, then that is a 

good car-free day.  A bad car-free day is when it does not add some value.  We are also guided by the 

businesses about how to make these concepts work for themselves. 

 

Lots of shopping centres have disability access schemes and that is something that would probably naturally 

come if we pedestrianised the area, but it would be very difficult at the moment with the congestion on those 

pavements in some areas. 

 

Page 23



 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Do we have a timescale at all for the consultation on this?  We are keen 

to feed in from our visits and the like. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  All right.  This is all very, very provisional, but we 

would probably be doing the consultations on the initial bus reductions and some of the rerouting to meet the 

Crossrail reductions around the end of this year, the consultations around the pedestrianisation options next 

year, and then the public realm implementation at Oxford Street West at the beginning of 2019 and the Oxford 

Street East implementation starting sometime in the middle of 2019.  We are trying to make pretty rapid 

progress, but it depends how long the detailed design period takes.  That could take well over 18 months from 

mid-2017 until the end of 2018.  We are getting on with it and we want to see some progress now. 

 

Around London, there is such a consensus that we need to do this.  It was the one thing that every [Mayoral] 

candidate said that they wanted to do.  In the new era that we are in, it is even more important that we make 

London attractive to global tourists and that when they come to London they look at Oxford Street and say, 

“Wow, I am in the shopping capital of the world.  This is fabulous”, not, “Yuck.  I cannot get across the road 

and I do not feel safe and I am bumping into people”.  We have to make Oxford Street a world-beating 

location.  Although we are talking a lot about diverting buses here, there and everywhere, it is because I am 

doing TfL at the moment.  The vision for Oxford Street is fantastic. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We had a confidential briefing on some of the plans and it was, for 

those of us who were there, very exciting actually seeing this vision and energy. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Let us make it a world-beating, globally famous 

shopping location with leisure, culture and arts.  There is not enough eating and drinking. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, exactly. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is a beautiful location with some fantastic 

historic buildings there as well that would be great to showcase.  It has been sadly neglected as a piece of 

public realm, partly because it just is so difficult to do.  Working in partnership with Westminster, we can really 

deliver something fantastic for London that visitors will want to come to and is safe as well. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Great. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  I have just one final thing and it sort of relates to your portfolio but a chunk is under 

the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime [Sophie Linden].  You may be aware that Westminster Council is 

provisionally thinking about turning off its closed-circuit television (CCTV). 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, I have heard that. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  We will see the introduction of the Night Tube on 19 August 2016.  I just wanted to 

know in terms of rerouting some of those buses and you touched on the fact that Oxford Street is quite quiet 

at night.  We found that the only place that was open for food was McDonald’s.  Just around that safety, if we 

are looking at some bus routes still going, I hope that TfL is looking at maybe some going down at night so 

that there is still some presence on Oxford Street. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  As I said, it is all provisional, but at the moment 

the vision would be that if Oxford Street is designed more like a mixed-use type of scheme but with disability 

concerns in there, it could be opened at night, maybe after 9.00pm, but that is just provisional.  Equally, once 

Page 24



 

 

the vast improvements to the public realm are really securely planned and in and people know what is 

happening, you will see that there will be business change there and there will be more leisure activities, 

restaurants, cafés and so forth coming in.  That would be a good thing for the area. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Our next section Florence is on our old favourite, rail devolution. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  I think you can guess what my inbox has been like this week, Val.  I will refer to 

them as “Southern Fail”.  It is an issue that has caught everyone’s attention and there is cross-party consensus 

around devolution -- 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, there is. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  -- which is really good.  We know that some of the services are working well and 

some of the franchises have been good but, in your view, what needs to happen now to ensure that we get the 

pace moving on devolving national rail services? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We are all agreed that devolving the suburban rail 

services - Southeastern, Southern and South West to begin with - to TfL would be the biggest win for London 

passengers that we could possibly achieve in the short term.  We could deliver, like the Overground service, 

modern trains, fast metro services at least every quarter of an hour, much better customer services all round 

and also, tied in with TfL fares, a fare reduction.  We know we can do it. 

 

The track we have in south London is limited and restricted.  If we could tie it in with a capital programme to 

open up a few of those pinch-points, we could massively increase the number and frequencies of trains moving 

and serving customers in the Southeastern, Southern and South West networks.  South West is the most 

congested.  I used to say that Southeastern was the most badly run.  I wouldn’t say that now as Southern is 

clearly in a deep mess.  Passengers in London are being failed every day of the week and the crisis has become 

so intense.  Local management and dedicated investment and joined-up working would make such a big 

difference.  The big win is whether we can get started on a rail devolution programme: Southeastern in 2018, 

Southwestern franchise in 2019 and Govia Thameslink Railway (GTR), which is Southern, when the Thameslink 

works are finished.  We really need to do that. 

 

There was an in-principle partnership announcement earlier in the year with the previous Mayor and the 

current Government.  Sadiq [Khan] and I saw Patrick McLoughlin [then Secretary of State for Transport].  He is 

well up for it.  He has a very thoughtful, professional approach.  I am not lobbying for him but we felt 

immediately that we had a rapport with Patrick.  He is very interested in good service for customers.  I have 

been to see Tariq Ahmad [Lord Ahmad of Wimbledon, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Transport], 

the Minister for London transport, who is, again, very supportive. 

 

The problem we have had is that the civil service in the DfT is being somewhat slow and we have had difficulty 

getting them to pick up speed.  I am sure that they are under a lot of pressure and stress.  I am sure that Brexit 

has caused everybody to panic about everything.  It takes 18 months to two years to securely organise taking 

over a franchise and to bring immediate improvements.  Even if they are not huge improvements but some 

improvements immediately, we need to get on that escalator now, this side of the summer, to really get 

moving to take over Southeastern and then the rest in sequence.  We are applying every pressure we can on 

the Government to get the civil servants moving.  In fact, I was on the phone to Lord Ahmad this very week 

about it and he said that he would raise it again. 

 

Page 25



 

 

We want to make progress on this.  Everybody agrees.  I am really grateful for the cross-party support that we 

have enjoyed on this.  We have been very grateful particularly that Gareth [Bacon AM] came with us to see 

Patrick [O’Loughlin].  The message has to be that every constituency in south London of whatever political 

colour will benefit from this programme and we need everybody to understand that it is the cheapest way of 

benefiting the largest number of passengers that can be delivered in the shortest possible time.  It is the 

number one priority in terms of rapid improvements.  That is what we need to do. 

 

I would encourage Assembly Members to encourage the Government to get on with this because it is a win-win 

for them as well.  They clearly find it difficult under the current arrangements to have the levers of control to 

sort out problems and deliver reliability.  We know that with local management we can do it better. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  I have one final point.  I will keep referring to Southern.  

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, of course. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  We know that the Mayor has been very public in terms of saying that they should be 

stripped [of their franchise].  Under the current terms of the agreement between Govia and the DfT, do you 

think that that can be terminated early?  What is your view on that? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  At the moment, it is for the Government to try to 

solve this problem and the Mayor has said that this is unbearable, it absolutely has to end and it is for the DfT 

to step in in whatever way they can and deal with it.  It is unforgivable that it is as bad as it is at the moment. 

 

Having said that, we can see how we have arrived here.  Most crises have a history and so we can see that.  

This super-franchise was put together over a very large area of network because of the Thameslink works and 

the London Bridge works and the interactions, pressures and closures that there were going to have to be on 

that, and so it was already a really difficult franchise for anybody to operate.  Sadly, it has never been a strong 

organisation and it was given to a relatively weak organisation.  That is my personal view, although I appreciate 

that they are people under pressure and that they are working very hard.  Those train operating companies are 

not all very strong organisations.  Then, of course, there has been this industrial issue. 

 

One of the things that has not been aired about this - and I am not making excuses for anybody because, 

whoever is in charge, there needs to be active industrial relations and negotiations to get through this period - 

and one of the things that has happened that has not been mentioned is that there were a couple of very 

tragic passenger deaths from train door issues, I understand, in Merseyrail.  The first driver who was involved in 

the first death is in jail and the second driver is in court and so I will not say any more about it.  However, it 

does cast a light on why it might be that suddenly train drivers and unions have become extremely concerned 

about a practice that had been considered normal in some areas of the network.  The Overground operates 

that system at the moment with the drivers operating the doors. 

 

One of the advantages for passengers, to be honest, is that it means that if you are missing a conductor you 

can still operate the train, whereas at the moment if you have a conductor-operated system you have to wait 

for a conductor to be there to move the train.  In terms of flexibility and resilience of the system, it is a good 

thing to operate if you can.  Not that you want to take the conductors away, but it does mean that if there is a 

staffing issue, a flu epidemic or something, it is easier to still run the trains. 

 

However, if you are a train driver and you are being told that you are going to be taking something into your 

job description that could potentially lead you to be prosecuted, it does make you look at it differently.  There 

Page 26



 

 

does need to be some give-and-take conversation around these issues.  These things are never black and 

white.  There are always two sides to every story.  The industrial relations issue does need to be tackled. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We have talked previously at the Committee when discussing rail devolution about the 

potential for TfL not just to get the franchising or the contracting-out ability from DfT but to also get control 

of the track from Network Rail.  Are there any discussions ongoing with Network Rail or the DfT about this and 

do you think that there is potential for that to happen? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is not so much about control as co-ordination.  

We are finding Network Rail to be an increasingly good partner and we are grateful for the work that they are 

doing with us.  I am hoping that in the autumn we will be able to bring to the TfL Board a joint paper with 

Network Rail, which will be a capital investment plan for improving the networks in south London in a way that 

would support the rail franchise.  If there are bottlenecks and places that needs bits of focus work done to 

improve them or signalling -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That would be a joint investment programme? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, of course, because Network Rail still owns 

the money, but they are very interested in targeting their investment in a way that most effectively delivers 

service improvements.  That will be a really great plan if we can pull that off.  There is a lot of very good work 

going on right now.  Gareth Powell [Director of Strategy and Service Development, London Underground and 

London Rail] from within TfL is leading on it if you want more of a briefing, but by the autumn we should have 

a really good joint approach to investment.  It needs the Government to support it, but Network Rail is very up 

for this.  It is the future for London, really: getting more value out of the track that we have. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Great.  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  My question was probably answered with your exchange with Florence [Eshalomi AM] 

because the debate is that TfL will clearly pick off the franchises as they come along, although it is not quite as 

simple as that.  I was out last night with a couple of friends who are self-confessed gricers [rail enthusiasts] 

and they were talking about the real difficulties around it.  They understand that technical side of it, which we 

will not expand upon now.  We will be picking off those franchises. 

 

The debate is about GTR and Southern, clearly.  I looked at Wikipedia just to check a couple of details and 

someone has kindly put, “GTR is a train operating company and torture device”.  Somebody from Govia should 

get into that and change that.  The challenge will be, just to echo Florence - and the Mayor yesterday was very 

strong on it in the Standard saying this - that we need it to be taken over now and not wait until 2021.  That is 

going to be very difficult.  Without going around a lot of what Florence said, people need to understand that. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  As I said, it is the DfT’s responsibility to sort 

this out, but if we could help in any way, we certainly would.  Unfortunately, things have come to a head just 

when there is another national crisis going on.  That is our south London crisis.  We are anxiously waiting to 

hear if the current Ministers are in post and whether any are changing. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Our worry is that they will just file it away in the “it is too difficult to think about” file 

and we need to make sure that that does not happen. 

 

Page 27



 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Sadiq [Khan] is extremely concerned about the 

situation facing Southern passengers right now.  It is not our franchise and I would like to think that it would 

not be like this if it was.  If the Government calls us in and asks for some collaboration and help, then we would 

do everything we possibly could. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Thank you, Val. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are going to be doing a letter from the Committee to the DfT on 

this, expressly the Southern franchise.  Now having an hourly service from where I live in the morning, it is 

quite extraordinary. 

 

We are going to look at taxi and private hire vehicle (PHV) services now.   

 

David Kurten AM:  We know that there has been an enormous increase in the number of PHVs and minicabs 

in the capital over the last few years.  Does the Mayor want to reduce the number of minicabs and, if so, by 

how many? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  As you know, from the previous Mayor and this 

Committee there has been pressure applied for a cap and a Government is very resistant to the notion of a cap.  

Having said that, we feel that there is a quality issue as well. 

 

Picking up on the work of the Private Hire Regulations Review that happened just before the election, which 

went to the TfL board, rather than going back and renegotiating, redesigning and re-consulting, we are picking 

up those recommendations and pressing ahead with them.  There will be in the autumn the institution of a 

raised standard on topographical tests.  There will be a requirement for an intermediate English language test.  

We have closed a number of test centres and there will be a TfL invigilator present at any future tests.  We are 

also looking, which is possible under current powers, at introducing a driving standard, not the Knowledge but 

equivalent to the one that taxis have to apply, to raise safety on our streets and improve driving standards.  It 

will be a higher hurdle for people to jump in order to become a minicab driver because we feel that there is a 

strong public interest in that.  That is quite likely automatically to reduce the intake and turnover of minicab 

numbers.   

 

Having said that, because we have a specific issue around traffic congestion in London, particularly in central 

London at the moment, there was a proposal to impose the Congestion Charge on minicabs.  We are looking in 

that in more detail because you cannot be kneejerk about this.  You do have to model.  You do need to 

understand.  You need to understand the impact on businesses, as you pointed out.  You need to be 

reasonable and effective and try to achieve reasonable ends.  We are looking at what the detail of that might 

be.  That, of course, will require consultation.  We are looking at a reformed world in the private hire industry, 

including things - as you saw in the Private Hire Regulations - like requirements on insurance.   

 

There is this thing about the gig economy.  There is a new information technology (IT) age with people 

thinking it is all right to do a bit of casual this and that using an app and there are many circumstances where 

that is probably the case.  I know lots of people using Airbnb and using new information technologies in the 

market successfully and profitably.  That is fine, but when you are talking about people putting themselves 

into vehicles and people driving around London you are talking about public safety issues.  As a regulator, it is 

our principal responsibility to ensure not just the operation of a two-tiered market but also very strongly to 

ensure public safety across the board.  There will be kickback on this and it would be really helpful if the 

Assembly looks to the public interest on this issue.   

 

Page 28



 

 

There will be change.  It will affect the existing minicab drivers when they come up for their first renewal at the 

end of three years.  That is fair because that gives those people time to understand the hurdles they have to 

jump and get through them.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you for your answer.  It was a very comprehensive answer.  I would just like to pick 

up on one thing about insurance.  Are you talking about the need for minicabs to have hire and reward 

insurance, which is a higher level? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  There has been an issue flagged up by certain people at the Licensed Taxi Drivers’ 

Association (LTDA) about some minicab and PHV drivers getting the hire and reward insurance and then 

downgrading soon afterwards to the personal, social and pleasure insurance, which does not give the proper 

protections to people in PHVs. 

 

Were you aware of that?  Are you doing any checks to make sure that PHVs who are licensed continue to have 

the hire and reward insurance for the whole time they are driving? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  That was one of the things that came up very 

much during the consultation.  It is quite difficult as a regulator because, on the one hand, clearly some people 

do not drive all the time and will take holidays, a month abroad or whatever but, on the other end of the scale, 

we felt that there was some anecdotal evidence that people were driving without proper insurance.   

 

As a regulator, if you have a minicab, the minicab is insured.  That means that if you suddenly pick up a job 

that you had not been expecting to do, it is there.  We are going to be requiring that insurance.  We are talking 

about whether it should be on display on the outside of the car so that an enforcement officer could check on 

the street if you have it, but certainly you need to have hire and reward insurance in place. 

 

David Kurten AM:  It would be good to have something on the outside so that you can immediately see that 

it has -- 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  That is a good suggestion that has been made 

that we are looking at.  Certainly you will need to have it, yes.   

 

David Kurten AM:  OK.  Thank you very much. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is a bit shocking, really, that it has not been so.  

I think it goes back to the history of minicabs.  It was a different type of job and the companies were known 

locally.  This is now a different world. 

 

David Kurten AM:  The world has moved on and so it needs some more enforcement and so on, yes.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Are you considering any immediate action to alleviate problems faced by black cabs, for 

example, ensuring access to all bus lanes? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  In fact, there is a package that is being 

worked up of short-term assistance to the black taxis.  One of them is extending the number of bus lanes that 

they can get into.  That might help with our immediate congestion problems as well.  The Mayor will be making 

an announcement on some of these measures.  We are concerned to help the taxi drivers transit towards new 

Page 29



 

 

cleaner technologies.  We do want to see the survival of the black taxi industry.  Some of that will involve taxi 

drivers - how do I say it - becoming more business-minded themselves.   

 

I do not often take a taxi, I have to say - because I live in south London! - but I took a taxi the other day and, 

as I do now, rather than them interviewing me, I interviewed him.  The taxi driver was a younger driver and he 

was getting his business from Hailo, an app, Gett, an app, and one of the big phone circuits - I cannot 

remember whether it was Computer Cab or Metrocab but one of them - as well as doing the ranks and picking 

up hand business.  He was earning a living.   

 

The other thing was that he had a credit card [machine] and, when you walked past his cab, it had all the credit 

card signs on the side of the cab.  If you want business from younger people, you need to use a credit card and 

you need to be contactable on a smart phone.  There is a degree of business transition that black taxis need to 

take.  That is quite a hard message but on the other hand it is a true and honest one.   

 

Equally, we want to do what we can to make sure that taxis survive into the modern era because Londoners 

want them, tourists want them and people with disability access problems need them.  Things from our side 

that we can do like creating new ranks, certainly outside the Night Tubes and so on, we are going to do.  There 

is going to be quite a big action plan of assistance, some of which has already started.   

 

David Kurten AM:  There is one issue I am thinking of about upgrading to the Euro 6 engines.  The black 

taxis will have to do that in 2017 but PHVs will not have to do that until 2022, which gives a five-year 

competitive advantage.  Do you have any plans or thoughts about changing that so that they are implemented 

at the same time for taxis and PHVs? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  For the taxis we are looking at help, as you know.  

For the minicabs, at the moment they are being seen as part and parcel of the general vehicle stock but, as I 

said, we are looking at the issue of Congestion Charging for PHVs just because of the sheer growth of 

numbers.   

 

The T-charge will be tied in to the Congestion Charge and if you have a discount on the Congestion Charge, 

for example I think in central London you have a discount, the idea is that you would have a discount on that.  

If there was a partial lifting of the Congestion Charge discount, we would probably want to see commensurate 

T-charge.  That particular thing is up for consultation and the Congestion Charge issue is being looked at 

within TfL at the moment.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are looking forward to getting details of those measures as soon as 

possible.  That is an area we are all very interested in.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Val, hello.  Congratulations.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Do you think that TfL has given walking and cycling enough priority and what changes 

would you like to see on that front? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  OK.  Although in many ways it was very 

controversial, the changes that the previous Cycling Commissioner [Andrew Gilligan] did finally bring to TfL 

have been very positive.  There might be particular issues about particular schemes and particular approaches 

Page 30



 

 

but TfL does understand now that there is hunger in the community, particularly among the younger 

generation, to make London a safe city for cyclists.  The changes have to come and it gets that.   

 

One of the things that we are building very securely into the New Directions document and the strategies for 

the future, and also will be building therefore into our funding regimes, is a more joined up approach for 

walking and cycling.  We are probably going to be branding it “Healthy Streets”.  There has been a lot of work 

done on Healthy Streets, how you make an environment cleaner, safer, more liveable, pleasant and 

cycling-friendly.  We will not be dropping our cycling focus but making it a cycling, walking and environment 

focus for the future.  TfL is now ready to take that next step.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Speaking as someone who does not cycle but who loves to walk, I am pleased about a bit 

more of a focus on pedestrians.  Yes, it seems the previous Mayor got there in the end, but it just took quite a 

long time to go from the blue paint on the road to actual segregated schemes.  Is the Mayor reviewing any of 

those schemes or are you going ahead as -- 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There were three consultations before the 

election and we are about to start making announcements on those.  We will probably do them one after the 

other.  There is quite a lot of work still going on with the Quietways and there will be a batch of proposals to 

be announced in the autumn 2016 from then on, finishing off that batch and then moving on.   

 

Sometimes some of the way that it was gone about in the past has not helped the cause of cycling because 

you do not want a situation where people feel, for example on the Quietways scheme - there is a bit of an ‘us 

and them’ thing - that this change is all happening because it is for the cyclists.  What we want people to feel 

is that future programmes and changes belong to all of us.  “This is going to make my area, the area that I walk 

through and the area that I live in, safer, more convenient and pleasant whether I am walking, whether I want 

to cycle and whether or not I am getting public transport”.  Some broadening, a bit less of a combative style 

and being a bit less combative will deliver better results in some ways for the future.  Cycling segregation is 

really important and it is more important on those busy, dangerous roads. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I agree.  Is the Mayor intending to appoint walking and cycling advisors and, if so, when? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  We have a job description that we have 

been kicking around.  My apologies for that.  The job description is a Cycling and Walking Commissioner. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is combined, not two separate roles? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  That is one of the reasons it has been 

changed.  As you know, we have been pacing ourselves on many things and so it did not all come at once, but 

there will be an announcement on that.  Again, I just have to get sign-off on that one.  My thinking at the 

moment is that probably we would advertise it.  It is not going to be a political appointment.  It is all apolitical. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is an open process. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It would be something we would give a wide 

range of people the chance to apply for.  I see it as somebody who is not just helping push delivery within TfL 

because that was principally Andrew’s [Gilligan, former Cycling Commissioner] role, I think, but also somebody 

who can act as an honest broker for the Mayor’s Office dealing with communities.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  It would be more outward-facing than the previous? 

Page 31



 

 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It would also have an outward-facing role but 

equally be promotional as well.  We want to make sure that people are using the cycling facilities we put in so 

there is a promotional thing, getting people training and so on.  Also, to use a terrible phrase here, we need to 

“sex up” the walking agenda - I said that to Living Streets and they looked at me oddly - in the same way that 

the London Cycling Campaign has done a great job for promoting cycling, making people see the value of it in 

daily life and also making it a useful and a positive thing.  We need to make fitness walking and leisure walking 

attractive for Londoners.   

 

You know why I am saying that, Caroline: because here I am sitting here wearing my Fitbit, but it has done a 

tremendous thing for me.  You can see that I have lost 2.5 stone of weight.  If we are a city with an obesity 

crisis, a blood pressure crisis and diabetes crisis, we have this fantastic free gym out there that can help stave 

off Alzheimer’s and can massively improve your health and quality of life in a beautiful city that we want to 

make more beautiful.  Let us promote walking and let us make walking easier and safer. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Absolutely.  Just finally, can I ask you if you can tell us anything about TfL’s funding 

commitment for cycling going forward? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It will be in the business plan.  Our intention is to 

increase it.  That was in the Mayor’s portfolio and I want to make the walking investment visible as well.  There 

is this thing about how visible things are.   

 

Obviously we talked about learning the lessons of the past.  I am going to see London Councils’ Transport and 

Environment Committee (TEC) executive shortly and we will be writing round the boroughs.  For the coming 

year, we envisage the Local Implementation Plan (LIP) funding programme rolling on as it is because nobody is 

crying out that there is a big problem and they have a handle on it.  For the future, we might need to craft the 

LIP programme a bit.  Certainly for these additional programmes that you are talking about for cycling, we 

need to work out exactly the best ways of spending that money.   

 

If we are going to be more community-focused, that means doing the consultations differently.  It means 

talking to people, listening to people and doing some earlier engagement before the design.  That might mean 

we need to change some of the funding regimes and how they operate a bit.  Yes, we want to push ahead on 

quieter streets programmes but it does mean that we need to have a bit more of an iterative stage with the 

community beforehand.  That would probably change the nature of that funding relationship.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Hi.  We meet again.  Will the Mayor’s business plan include a particular enhancement of 

cycling provision in outer London boroughs?  It is something that needs to be done given what we are facing 

in terms of enormous economic growth, as well as housing and so on.  It is a perfect opportunity that outer 

London boroughs are part of that strategic plan with funding provided to enhance and improve safe cycling.  

Mini-Hollands, I have always believed, should not be entirely left for boroughs to build.  This should be part of 

something that we encourage and provide an opportunity for outer London boroughs. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Absolutely.  The traffic growth in outer London is 

of concern.  We know from research there is huge potential for increasing the number of cyclists and 

pedestrians in outer London and we would neglect that agenda at our peril.  Definitely, we want to ensure that 

we get the cycling revolution everywhere.  That does not mean we would get the cycle hire scheme necessarily 

Page 32



 

 

to outer London because there is a different dynamic on that, but for investment programmes I could foresee, 

for example, Wellesley Road in Croydon being transformed and improved.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  There are lots of opportunity areas and so on being planned.  We need to get in there with 

a strategy for cycling and walking, which needs to be done in a joined up manner.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It does need to be joined up. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  That is what I am pushing for. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Absolutely.  We need schemes such that when 

they go forward, their local councillors can put their hands on their heart and say, “This is the best thing for my 

community.  We are going to deliver this”.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Just picking up on that, people being able to put their hand on their heart and say, “It 

is the best for my community”, it is really wonderful to hear you talking about Healthy Streets and thinking 

about walking and cycling together.  We will get more Londoners thinking this is a good thing if they can see 

the benefit of it.   

 

My question was just that there is an awful lot of data out there that we could be using to help to build the 

case for more good and healthy streets.  I am just wondering whether the lessons are being learned from the 

projects, the Mini-Hollands and the Cycle Superhighways.  Are we capturing the data and consulting with users 

of those areas, of those streets, so that we know what the benefits are and we can use those going forward? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  That is a good suggestion, Caroline.  At the 

moment, I have been thinking about doing this evaluation and doing it quickly enough to influence positively.  

Usually the things you can learn, you can learn.  Lessons become fairly obvious.  You talk about longer-term 

lessons about the benefit.  We need to give some thought about how we could do that.  You might have some 

ideas.  I very much appreciated our conversation with John Dales [Director,  Urban Movement Ltd] the other 

day.  It was very helpful. 

 

One of the things that is most obvious to me and stunningly obvious to anybody in elected life is that fear is a 

big driver.  People who want something are not usually as quick to the front door as people who are afraid of 

something.  One of the things we really need to get better at is mapping out and understanding issues around 

traffic displacement.  It is not necessarily that people are against cycling or cycling schemes.  What they are 

definitely against is additional traffic coming down their own street and them suffering from the knock-on 

consequence.  We need to, early on, be looking at not just selling positives but dealing with, mitigating and 

managing any negatives that might happen, being upfront about that and addressing it. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  There is also the thing that traffic does evaporate. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Traffic reduction. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is just making sure because sometimes the fears about traffic displacement may 

prove to be unfounded when one looks at the evidence.  It is a question of using the data to check what is 

happening. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There is some science around that.  I agree with 

you that if we are talking modal shift, one of the things we are talking about is literally people leaving their 

Page 33



 

 

cars at home and using another mode.  We need to be able to demonstrate to people what we are doing to 

make sure that they are not getting unintended consequences, they are not getting growth of traffic in their 

area and that it is being managed in a way that will reduce traffic impacts.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I wanted to ask just a couple of very quick things on this.  With the 

Quietways funding - and I know I emailed you about this several weeks ago - there are some projects that have 

been developed that are not quite right.  Are you allowing that funding to carry over into another financial 

year so that boroughs can work with communities to get those right? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, I think we need to do that.  In fact, I had a 

council leader in yesterday - I will not say who - who had exactly the same plea.  The point is that if it is clear 

that there is a better project to be had with a bit more time, then we want the better project. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You are up for that.  That is great.  I just wanted that flexibility. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  That will probably be a consequence of what we 

are saying about this more holistic and slightly more democratic approach.  You need more design and 

consultation time and it does mean that if something is not really going to work, you at some point need to be 

honest and look for plan B.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Brilliant.  That is great to hear. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I would rather have a plan B than nothing.  Plan 

Bs can be very good actually. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I did want to ask you here, because it is technically on walking, about 

the Garden Bridge and the decision last week to put it on hold at the Sub-committee because of the £3 million 

extra that is needed to strengthen Temple Station.  Do you have any comment on whether the project will go 

ahead? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I have been chairing the Finance Committee as a 

temporary measure until the autumn.  That piece of work was commissioned by the Garden Bridge Trust 18 

months ago.  They commissioned it, ie would be paying for it.  It was enabling work over at Temple, although I 

have not looked at any of the drawings.  That was talked about and went through various stages in the last 

Mayor’s period and it was finally signed off under delegated powers as a project to go ahead with retrospective 

payment to be made by Garden Bridge under normal contractual terms - the work would be done and the 

Garden Bridge Trust would pay for it - in March 2017.   

 

To be honest, I did not see it until it appeared on the Committee papers.  By the time I had inquired, the work 

had already been paused.  That was the Garden Bridge Trust saying that they have planning and other issues 

to deal with and so pause it.  Our request was that anyway - and we said this at the Committee - we would 

have paused it because we want to make sure that we fulfil the Mayor’s manifesto commitment.  The Mayor’s 

manifesto commitment is no more public money on this project.  It has had quite a lot.   

 

That means from our point of view that in the first instance we go back to the Garden Bridge Trust and say 

that we would like to look at the payment terms so that it does not look like we are lending them money to 

reclaim it.  If the project is to proceed, we would want upfront payment.  That also then puts the onus on the 

Trust to be clear that everything is going ahead and that whatever other issues they have - planning issues or 

south-of-the-river issues - resolved.   

Page 34



 

 

 

It is not a project that I have taken on.  Because there were such hot issues going on before I even arrived in 

the office, David Bellamy, who is the Mayor’s Chief of Staff, has had to carry this one. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is wise that you steer well clear of it, to be honest. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I also felt that it was a bit difficult because I had 

submitted a six-page planning objection to the Garden Bridge.  It was probably better if I did not have a direct 

role in it. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is not a transport project anyway, is it? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  No.  I did say that technically it is walking.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It has taken up an enormous amount of City Hall 

time and that is a pity because we have a manifesto to get on with. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is the Chief of Staff we should be dealing with, then, for anything on 

that? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  No, I do not mean to -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  No, but if there was anything. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  This did come to my Committee and I debated 

with myself whether or not I should just pull the paper, but since it was only reporting something that had 

already happened, it was not for decision, there was no financial allocation at all and we had a commitment to 

transparency, I felt we just -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We did discuss it in part A. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Good.  Let us move on to other areas.  Navin, you are going to do 

door-to-door for us? 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes.  On that matter, as you know very well, the Transport Committee for a number of years 

has done a lot of work on door-to-door services and issues concerned with that.  The main question I have is: 

when we will see this much-aspired integrated membership and booking process across door-to-door services? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  To be honest, I have not done a lot on 

door-to-door services since I arrived, but there is a paper going to the next London Councils TEC meeting 

because there has been work done looking at integration and joint commissioning.  I will be there and that is 

where I will be getting to grips with that agenda and how much progress has been made, but in principle we all 

know that we do need to be much more joined up in that area.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  Can you let us know when you have more information for us on that?   

 

Page 35



 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  If you would like me to get together a brief and 

send it to you, Navin, and to the Committee on progress on the door-to-door transport services and also 

discussions with Taxicard as well, I will do that because that is one of the things that is next on my to-do list.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We could write to the TEC to ask for its paper as well.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  We can, yes.  It is just that in late 2015 TfL also did this new action plan for door-to-door 

services --  

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It did, yes.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  -- and all of that and so it would be good to have a proper briefing.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  An update to see where it is at.  For as long as I 

have been here we have been talking about improving Dial-a-Ride and doing more joined-up work and it 

would be great to actually do some of that.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes.  Again, like independent travel budgets are being also considered for services.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Exactly, yes.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  The long-term future of Dial-a-Ride as a centralised service provided directly by TfL is also 

one of the issues on the table and so we need to look at all of that.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is a very difficult one because we have a 

postcode lottery, but increasingly TfL has been subsidising these services and we would want to do it in a more 

coherent way.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes.  OK, thank you.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will look at the bus network next.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, if we must look at the bus network; we have already touched upon it.  I regret 

that we have nothing about trams but we are meeting next week.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I am due a journey further south to Sutton as 

well.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Good luck.  That conversation will continue between you and me and the two 

boroughs about the tram and we will pick up with that next week.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, great.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Turning back to the bus network, we have already talked about it around Oxford 

Street.  My understanding is that TfL is going to be looking at, in the autumn, a major review of the bus 

network under your instruction, which is partly about the rebalancing that we have already heard about 

between inner London and outer London and where parts of outer London are often far more reliant.  I can 

think of two or three bus services in Croydon where they rely on one bus.  It goes to the top of Clockhouse 

Estate and back and, if that bus is not running, it lets them down.  That is all around outer London.   

Page 36



 

 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Absolutely, yes.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  You have some that you could quote.  In the review coming forward, what do you 

think about it?  What do you see are the challenges?  What are the opportunities in any major review of the 

bus network?   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Certainly I see that there is a lot of growth of 

demand around London and areas intensifying and so we want to try to meet some of that and as much of that 

demand as we can.  We want to make sure that, as part of our air quality commitments, we put clean buses on 

very polluted routes.  We want to make sure that health and essential public services are properly served with 

bus routes and we also want to serve regeneration opportunities, not immediately but rather than wait for 

demand to build up and then put in a bus, we want to make sure that there is coordination between 

regeneration and bus development, hopefully in partnership with the boroughs and using the intelligence that 

they have and the more holistic understanding they often have about changes in the community and the 

demand of the community.  I do not have the terms of reference for the review here but it is intended to be 

positive and developmental.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It is a very large, complex piece of work.  At any given time the constituency members 

have a lot of casework about this bus service or that bus service and the needs.  I was in Norbury the other 

week and they want a bus to go up to Upper Norwood.  There is no bus that runs that way and we could all 

cite many examples of that.  It is going to be quite a big piece of work.  What is your timescale?  Is this a 

couple of months over the autumn; three months or four months of the autumn period?   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I will have to get back to you on that, Steve, on 

the actual timetables.  Sorry, if you can put that in the shopping list, Chair, we can write to you with a bit more 

information about that.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, any major changes will be explored later and you are not in a position to talk 

about major changes of the network today?   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  No, I am not in a position to tell you what the 

detail will be.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I understand.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The message is that if you have concerns and 

issues on particular areas and particular routes, it is probably a good idea to start feeding that in to the local 

council as well as to others so that everybody knows.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It is really helpful to get that message out over the summer months and to get that 

message out to the councils.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There will be a formal process but, as GLA 

politicians, people will expect you to see this coming.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  The introduction of the Hopper ticket is going to be another dynamic that will 

influence your thoughts around the networking and about the pressures on it because you said earlier people 

Page 37



 

 

may change their whole behaviours because they have a Hopper ticket now and have the opportunity to come 

off one and jump on another.  You might have to fit that into any thoughts.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  It will lead to more efficiency instead of 

people standing and waiting.  It is miserable, is it not, sometimes?  You stand and wait for hours for the one 

bus that will take you home.  You will be able to change en route and keep moving.  It will make for better 

utilisation of the buses as well as more convenience for passengers.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  OK, this is really good.  Certainly from my neck of the woods we have been writing in 

to Councillor Stuart King who leads in Croydon Council and I will, hopefully, be talking to Sutton if they would 

care to talk to me about the needs over there as well.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK, let us move on to looking at a few issues on the Tube.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  I very much welcome the review proposed of ticket office closures.  Are you able to tell us 

what outcomes you are expecting from the review?   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I could share with you the review criteria.  We 

have put together terms of reference with the areas that we want to be looked at and that includes things like 

whether there are adequate ticket machines.  When are the queues?  Are there any inadequacies in customer 

support available for disabled passengers in ticket offices?  Essentially, what we are going to be doing is 

looking for the problems where this has not worked or where there has not been enough resource put in.   

 

I saw a councillor yesterday who said to me that he was fed up at walking past queues of frustrated tourists at 

the machines in his borough and he was over at Kensington and Chelsea.  As I said, we do need to look after 

our tourists in London, especially because we are expecting a huge increase in tourists, and also our own 

passengers. 

 

There is that review we are commissioning.  I am not sure if this is a secret or not but we are looking at asking 

London TravelWatch to do this review for us and we are looking to identify areas where we need to rethink 

what has gone in.  My feeling is that there are some areas where too much is taken out or ticket machines have 

not gone in rapidly enough or maybe we need to boost the staffing.  We need to know specifically where those 

are and so we are asking for that work to be done independently.  You pay for London TravelWatch, yes?   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We do.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Everybody can be confident that we have done 

the best job we can of tackling any problems.  I am not sure if London TravelWatch has taken the contract yet, 

I have to say.  I perhaps should not have mentioned its name but, if you are aware of stations with problems, it 

would be really good if you could capture when that is and what it is and what you think is going wrong, and 

we can use that.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  Something that is significant that needs to be part of the review is equality impact 

assessments and what seems to work and what is not working.  What I have in mind is things like accessibility 

for people with visual impairment --  

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Exactly.   

Page 38



 

 

 

Navin Shah AM:  -- signage and so on because that is where you need really very clear, yes.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We specifically wrote that in for people who need 

assistance through the station, dealing with the ticket machines and all of those things, deafness, sightedness 

problems.  Yes.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  OK.  Thank you, that is great.  Moving on to the Night Tube service, just a quick update on 

the delivery of that? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We are moving ahead for 19 August 2016 for the 

first two lines, and we have plans for increases in police numbers.  Those have been in the public arena before 

and, as I said, there is an action plan around getting some taxis.  Last year there were proposals that you all 

saw on night buses to wrap around the Night Tube and so we are worried about the last-mile-home thing.  We 

are green-for-go on this.  I was talking very briefly with the new Deputy Mayor for Culture [Justine Simons 

OBE] yesterday with Sadiq [Khan] and looking at what we could wrap round the Night Tube launch in terms of 

promoting the night-time businesses and making it more than just a transport event because it is precisely 

meant to be more than that.  It is about economic development for London.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes.  You mentioned increase in police numbers.  The next question was along the lines of 

about issues concerning antisocial behaviour and how that will be addressed.  The noise issue is another one.  

How is that being planned to be tackled by TfL?  I can say that, particularly with noise, though, my side of the 

Jubilee line does not come into being made live until September or October 2016, but public meetings and 

stuff we have had locally where you have checks at the back of your gardens and that kind of scenario.  On 

this question of noise from the night service as well as even issues about compensation, noise and antisocial 

behaviour will be the key issues which I would like to know how TfL intends to progress.   

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  On the noise from the Tube itself, as you know, I 

had a lot of casework about this, which several Members had before the election.  It is true to say that in some 

senses modernising the Tube has signalled, for some people, more noise because there are more trains and 

they are more frequent and heavier.  With some of the materials that have been used, you have gone from 

wood and gravel, which are very giving, to concrete and metals.  The environment has changed a bit and that 

was one of the reasons why there has been a bit of an uplift of noise complaints about the Tube as well as 

people being, understandably, worried about the Night Tube coming over the weekends and causing them a 

problem.   

 

One of the first things I did was, with the senior team there, nail down a proper programme of mapping and 

following up all the noise complaints, putting the programmes in to address them and having a proper system 

for responding to and dealing with all the complainants.  If you have somebody who is concerned, is suffering 

noise and is worried about the future, they should be getting a really good thorough response now that 

includes a plan for how we are going to reduce this noise and that there is some intelligent diagnosis done of 

what the problem is.  In some locations it is pretty clear that it is not just about grinding the rails.  It is actually 

about putting in some additional -- I cannot remember what they are called but there is some kit to help 

absorb vibration.  That should be now well underway and we are concerned first for the first two Tubes to 

open. 

 

However, if you are not getting a good service to your residents on that, you need to let me know because we 

have done our best to put a joined-up system in place with one person who is overseeing all of that 

Page 39



 

 

correspondence coming in so that he can quality-control and watch what is happening with uplifts of problems 

and problems being dealt with.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Good, thank you.  I certainly have casework at the moment and so that 

is much needed.     

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  What you have just said is very helpful, Val, because I have residents 

who are deeply concerned about the introduction of the Night Tube.  Ironically, most seem to support the 

introduction of the Night Tube but the issue is around the proximity of their properties to the actual railway 

line.  I was with one person in particular last week and clearly the noise the trains make is well in excess of the 

World Health Organisation limits on background noise at night-time. 

 

I just wondered what plans you have to mitigate that and whether there would be extra screening done or 

compensation paid to retrofit triple glazing or something. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  What I say about diagnosis is quite important.  

What is the problem and, therefore, how can it be reduced and sorted?  We put a sort of night noise buster 

team in place and it is up to them to make sure they are identifying the sources and causes of noise and what 

engineering mitigations can go in to deal with it.  I do not know about that specific location, Keith. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  No, I would not think so. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, but if you are not getting a good response 

from TfL to your requests, please come back to me. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  I appreciate it.  Can I just ask whether this mitigation is 

going to be done before the launch of the Night Tube or post? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  They have been getting on with it.  The priority at 

the moment is the two Tubes that will be starting -- 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  By the Central line. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  -- the Central and Victoria lines.  The priority is 

getting those sorted first and, therefore, trying to take a bit more of a risk-based approach. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  In the complaint that my resident has, she is representing a number 

of people and, therefore, a common thing is having no communication from TfL at all. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Who have they been writing to? 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  They have not been writing to TfL but they were not consulted 

about the introduction; no one has done any kind of noise assessments or anything. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Keith, something has obviously gone wrong there 

and, if you send it to me, you will get a response.  The system was supposed to work without me needing to 

intervene but, if it is not working, I will intervene. 

 

Page 40



 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  This is a body of people from across London and, therefore, I would 

really welcome it if we can perhaps have a meeting with you, Madam Deputy Mayor, to discuss it. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  Can you send me the information first 

though -- 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, of course. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  -- because it might be something we could get on 

with faster? 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  What you said is helpful. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You will see a rise in enquiries, I am sure, if Members have had a 

moment because the date is coming up. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes, because it is going to be real.  Give me as 

much detail as you can though, Keith. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  I will, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are on our final subject: Crossrail 2. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  Nice to see you again, Val.  I have a few questions about Crossrail 2.  The first one is 

around dates and the updates on dates and funding and the second is updates on station locations and plans.  

The final one is about the High Speed 2 (HS2) impact. 

 

Starting with the first one, when will we get a confirmation that Crossrail 2 is going ahead and the funding 

package agreed? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The Government and TfL believe that TfL is going 

ahead and they have put a little bit of money in it just as a marker.  I do not imagine that the new Prime 

Minister would want to kill off such a popular and well-supported project with such a good business case.  The 

programme board has only just met.  The programme board met at the end of June 2016 and it is made up of 

stakeholders.  The DfT is there at the table.  Andrew Adonis [Lord Adonis, Chair, National Infrastructure 

Commission] is chairing it.  TfL and other partners are working together to develop the project and it flows 

from this moment.  That is the first thing that starts to make this real. 

 

It is not the final board structure we will end up with.  It has not got lots of neds on it.  It is a stakeholder 

partnership board to deliver. 

 

What we envisage is that roughly the timetable will work out that by the end of 2020, the magic year, 

everything that needs to be done in terms of design, planning, putting together the funding package will be 

done.  The next thing that then happens is the Hybrid Bill and then we move on to deliver. 

 

The programme board is now looking at the detailed responses to the consultations.  You will see that a 

consultation report has just come out but also, extremely importantly, looking at the Government’s request to 

try to cost engineer it a bit and reduce some of the overall costs.  The final package proposal, I hope, over the 

Page 41



 

 

next few months will emerge in terms of things like which arms are retained, which locations are opted for 

which stations and -- 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  When you say “the final package”, do you include funding in that?  I know you said 

there has been a little bit of money but I feel like we have been in this limbo state of little incremental -- 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  The development of the project and working up 

of the funding proposals work together.  The Growth Commission has just about put its report out in which it 

has been looking at the regeneration impacts and that is something that has an impact.  Detailed work on 

developing the funding package is going on.  I would not let that worry you because we have the measure of 

what we have to achieve, over when, and it is working ahead.  We will have more to report to you as time goes 

on but we are getting on with it now. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  At least in a few months we will be getting something that is looking a bit definite. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  That leads me on to the next question about the station locations because we have had 

uncertainty around the Kings Road, Tooting versus Balham, the demolitions in Wimbledon and also people in 

Streatham will still want a station. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Yes.  Those things all have to be nailed down 

shortly.  We are very clear now on what the choices are and what is going to be put to the board. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  You think you may not be announcing but you think you know exactly where stations 

will be placed? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We are clear what the choices are and what the 

funding envelope is from the Government.  The programme board will be working over the next few months to 

nail those down but I could not tell you now exactly what is going to happen. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  OK.  Any of those places. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Some of the schemes you can see which are 

cheaper and which has more regeneration effect; all of that work has been very well worked out.  We are right 

at the moment now when those decisions are taken.  They are not yet taken. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  There is no one you want to give any good news to at the moment or bad news. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I would.  You mentioned Streatham and 

Streatham was ruled out in a very early ‘optioneering’ on the programme several years ago and, therefore, 

there definitely is not going to be a station at Streatham because it completely lies outside the business plan 

area.  It does not fulfil the business case for Crossrail and so Streatham fell at the first hurdle, I am afraid.  That 

is definitely not going to happen.  You can see from the last consultations that it was not on any of those 

maps.  Let us be clear about that one. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  I have a personal interest because I live in Wimbledon and right on the train line as well 

and so a lot of those things will impact me.   

 

Page 42



 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  There are four basic options being looked at for 

Wimbledon and they have all been broadly understood in terms of costs, benefits and impacts on the business 

community and those decisions are now with the programme board. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  They are coming to a head, OK.  Let us move swiftly on to my last question, which is 

about the implications of changes to HS2.  I know you have previously mentioned - or I seem to have a 

recollection - the changes at Euston having an impact on Crossrail 2 if HS2 does not happen because there is 

supposed to be some congestion alleviation happening there.  I am talking about moves down to 

Old Oak Common and the termination there.  What are the implications of possible changes in HS2 if that 

project does not go ahead? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It works the other way around, Kemi.  The idea 

was that if HS2 comes to Euston - and that is still the Government’s working assumption - we would need 

definitely to have Crossrail 2 to alleviate the congestion we would get at Euston because it brings all of those 

extra people in and we need to get them out of the area.  It strengthens the business case for Crossrail 2 to 

have HS2 terminate at Euston. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  I personally do not necessarily think there are going to be that many changes to HS2 

given the conversations that have happened.  If anything did change that, what would happen to the business 

case?  Would it suddenly go completely out of kilter or is it something that would be absorbed with an 

Old Oak Common termination?  How much of an impact would it have on, say, the package you are talking 

about in the next few months? 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Crossrail 2 has been predicated very much on the 

regeneration impacts and the relief of the Northern Line and Southwest trains and that is the core of the 

business plan for it.  Crossrail 2 is green for go.  We are going on it.  I agree with you that because of a change 

in national administration there would be a question mark about HS2; I really do not know what is going to 

happen there.   

 

We cannot let such a huge infrastructure project for London fall down like a domino because of a national 

change, can we?  It is a really important project for us.  There are economic issues; we need to be doing more 

to ensure the success of our economy and so we cannot let this one slip from our grasp. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I just want to voice a special pleading.  It is really one for the officers because there is 

a very strong campaign to have a stop at Worcester Park.  I hear what you are saying: “the decisions have not 

been made yet”, but I am surprised that this was omitted from the campaigns around that.  You do not need to 

respond because you think the whole debate around stops has been discussed, it is in the mix and you expect 

announcements around the stops for Crossrail 2 in the coming months. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Later this year. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  It is a bit unfortunate that Andrew [Adonis] is not 

well at the moment because I could have rung him up and just asked him when he could do it, but we will let 

you know as soon as we can. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, thank you.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will have an announcement on those stations later this year. 

 

Page 43



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, that would be good. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  We have to bear in mind that we are only one 

party in this. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I know, yes.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I get that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Val, thank you so much for your detailed answers this morning.  I was 

expecting a lot more comment on that; we will write to you and with that -- 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I did fudge a few things, Caroline, but it was not 

because I am being evasive. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  No.  We completely understand.  It is so early in the administration.  

Thank you so much for your answers and the detailed knowledge you showed today.  I look forward to 

continuing to work with you.  We will be writing to you with lots of things from this. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  That would be great. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Then we will follow up as well. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  Our commitment is to be transparent as far as we 

can.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes.  We appreciate that because you have been on this side.  You 

know exactly the challenges and so we appreciate that. 

 

Valerie Shawcross CBE (Deputy Mayor for Transport):  I know that this Committee adds real value to the 

work of TfL and many of the things that are going on now at TfL have been driven by this Committee because 

you are a democratic voice.  We really appreciate your work and I would much rather hear from you as not. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Fantastic.  Lovely.  Thank you so much.   

Page 44



 

 
 

Appendix 2 
 

Transport Committee – 13 July 2016 
 

Transcript of Item 8 – London TravelWatch Performance Monitoring Report 
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us move on to item 8, the performance report of London 

TravelWatch. 

 

Janet, welcome back before us, the Chief Executive, and Glyn Kyle, who is one of the Board Members.  I am 

not sure if you have been before the Committee before but welcome along today.  I just want to express again 

our condolences following the sad death of your Deputy Chair, Ruth Thompson, and please make sure that 

that is passed on. 

 

We have your performance monitoring report.  I do not know if Glyn or Janet would like to answer this.  Just 

briefly give us an idea of where you think over the last year you have had significant impact on transport policy 

and then what your priorities are for the year ahead. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Thanks for having us and it is nice to see those of 

you back again we already know and we already have dates in the diary to meet the other new Members we 

have not met on a one-to-one basis. 

 

Can I also say that I thank Glyn for coming to be my right-hand man.  Ruth was scheduled to come to this 

meeting because neither John [Stewart, Board Member, London TravelWatch] nor Stephen [Locke, Chair, 

London TravelWatch] could make it but Glyn has stepped in to support me.   

 

It is ironic that we have had what I would I say is our most successful year in terms of really making an impact 

and we cannot always do that.  As you know, as well as everybody else, lots of the successes we get can take 

ten years to get there and they do not sound big and exciting because there may be lots of little steps or 

constantly wearing away at lobbying or trying to influence agendas.  This year, it is easier than most years to 

show where we have had a direct impact. 

 

It has been a challenging year because we have had this massive increase in statutory work that the law says 

we have to do, a big increase in casework and increases in consultations around proposed ticket office closures 

in particular, as well as - you have talked about it at length and we do not need to go there - obviously the 

impact of the really poor performance on rail services.  It is something, as you know, Caroline, our board looks 

at.  We do not collect the new information but we look again at the statistics that are already produced from 

the point of view of the passenger and we plot trend lines, which helps our board to really look at the areas 

that need addressing and helps us behind the scenes and sometimes in public if we think we need to and also 

in conjunction with the Transport Committee to get things on the agenda and lobby for change. 

 

As well as the extra, we have had also a very challenging year in terms of staff sickness, as you will see from 

our briefing; exceptional. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes.  Give us a couple of examples where you have had an impact. 

 

Page 45



 

 
 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  On the ticket offices, there is also the chance, 

particularly in an environment where for understandable reasons transport operators are trying to cut their 

costs, that there will be people consulting about closing ticket offices.  The scale we have had in the last few 

months was totally unprecedented.  In a sense, we have had four, two of which have been major, and also the 

extent of the responses passengers have made.  We do not have scientific evidence but I am quite sure, for 

example, on the Thameslink and Southern proposals to change their ticket offices - and I say that this is my 

assumption - that passengers who do not normally bother to contribute to these things just thought, “That is 

the final straw”.  We had over 9,000 responses before the deadline and we were just overwhelmed.  We had no 

idea.  Next time we will be better prepared for that, but we had no idea.  We were running to catch up just in 

terms of getting things on the log and we need to have responses from Assembly Members and north of the 

river and south of the river on this. 

 

Then we had a whole batch of responses in after the deadline that we felt we needed to catch up because, 

counting up and having a look at them, we felt that people were taking the time to do this.  With the 

knowledge we have, we have managed to negotiate better outcomes for passengers in all of these. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  What have you negotiated?  That is what we have been asking for. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes, sorry.  What we have negotiated is on the 

London Underground.  We have negotiated that it does not - and it has consulted on the 11 former national 

rail stations - close the ticket offices until it has the new ticket machines in place and they are working 

successfully and for three of the stations that have a particular number of national rail sales, which I do not 

think TfL had appreciated, that it continues to keep those ticket offices open for a further two to three months 

so that we can analyse the data to make sure they are meeting the needs of passengers. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That sounds fantastic. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  In terms of the Thameslink ones, we have got it to 

stop the programme it was proposing and to trial its station host proposals in two or three locations; one of 

which is Denmark Hill, quite close to you, Caroline.  We can actually monitor how they are working in practice 

so that passengers do not suffer.  Those are probably the biggest headlines. 

 

We have also managed to get on the agenda, with the support of other organisations, the Government to 

acknowledge that a change is needed in how compensation is given to passengers who continually suffer small 

delays of less than 30 minutes.  That is not what passengers want - they want the services to run reasonably 

reliably - but it does at least sweeten the pill if they know they can claim compensation.  We have that on the 

agenda as well.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is really good.  Thank you.  Glyn, do you want to tell us a couple 

of the key priorities for London TravelWatch for the year ahead? 

 

Glyn Kyle (Board Member, London TravelWatch):  We want to work as closely as possible with your 

Committee and also support the various work-streams that TfL invites us to work with it on because, together, 

we can do much better things for London’s travelling public.  For a number of the things that are in your work 

programme, we have already delivered some research reports on these things and included some work on 

interchanges and some work on travelling to airports.  We want to work flexibly with the new priorities of the 

new administration. 

 

Page 46



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I have a question on how you see walking and cycling within your remit.  A lot of the 

words in the excellent report are talking about the travelling public and users of London’s principal roads.  Do 

you see people who are walking and cycling as those users of those principal roads? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes, very much so. 

 

Glyn Kyle (Board Member, London TravelWatch):  Completely. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Can you say a little bit about how you reach out to walking and cycling in terms of 

getting people’s opinions into your work? 

 

Glyn Kyle (Board Member, London TravelWatch):  We very much consider all of London’s travelling 

public, whatever means of transport they are taking.  We recently held some meetings specifically focusing on 

cycling and invited members of various cycling organisations to join with us.  We continue to do this.  

 

One of our recent substantial pieces of work, which in fact the previous Committee had invited us to do, was 

on some of the impacts of the new Cycle Superhighways and the package of measures that had been 

introduced by the previous administration because we want to ensure that some of the investment behind the 

new programmes are in things which benefit as many Londoners as possible and that the dis-benefits are 

mitigated effectively. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Good afternoon.  Being one of the new Members, it is nice to meet 

you.  My question is about staffing costs.  Clearly, you went over budget in the last financial year and I just 

wondered, firstly, how that came about and what you are doing to mitigate that going forward.  Will you be 

able to catch up and reduce the deficit? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  As we have detailed in the report, one of the 

reasons we went over budget was our staff have different terms and conditions to the GLA staff but our terms 

and conditions are analogous.  If the GLA decides to give a cost of living rise to the staff, then we follow the 

same and we get a figure from the GLA to put into our budget.  As we have explained here, some of the 

overspend was because we had not allowed for the cost of living rise that was in there. 

 

We also had to take on extra staff to deal with the ticket office changes and we had to get some extra 

temporary staff in just to help process the numbers and also to pick up on the staff shortages.  Moving 

forward, we are a very small organisation.  We have to make the best use of our resources.  We have frozen 

non-essential expenditure.  This is why we have reserves.  We know that this can happen.  We always say it is a 

risk that we have a lot of statutory work we have to deal with.  This is what happened last year.  This is why we 

have the reserves but you can only go there once; you cannot keep going there.  

 

We had a vacancy recently and we are freezing that vacancy until we are absolutely sure we have sufficient 

funds to carry forward.  We also have a tiny research budget for this year of £7,500 but, once again, we are 

deferring any expenditure on that.  We are freezing it until we are quite sure we can reach the end of the year 

without going further into our reserves because that is not a sustainable position. 

 

Page 47



 

 
 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  On the cost of living increase, would that not have been on your 

radar or on the horizon if that is something that happens normally or was that just a one-off? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  That is one where we have to liaise with the GLA.  

When we are drawing up our business plan and we get guidance as part of the Mayor’s guidance that comes 

out.  We also liaise with your officers at the GLA about what figures we should assume for cost of living.  That 

is a figure where the unions at City Hall negotiated something a bit more than we had expected. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  All right.  That is fine.  What do you feel you could do - or perhaps 

even more importantly what could we do - that would help the less well-off residents who live in the outer 

boroughs and who have to travel into London?  I know that the Mayor has agreed a partial fares freeze, which 

may benefit some but will not benefit others.  What else do you think we could do or what avenues could we 

look at to help these people travelling into London? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  One of the pieces of work we did last year in 

conjunction with Trust for London, which looks at poverty, and also London Councils - we did it three-way 

because it made the resources go better and also brought in the different areas of expertise - was a piece of 

research that we called Living on the Edge.  We did look at the impact of people on very low incomes living in 

Zones 5 or 6 who still have to commute into central London for work because that is overwhelmingly where the 

biggest number of low-paid jobs are in hospitality, hotels, cleaning and a whole range of things like that.  We 

came up with some initial recommendations on that and we would like to see the Committee support those 

recommendations.   

 

We were not asking for great big concessions in that but a lot of this is just about making it clearer to people 

on how much they are spending on their travel.  The Hopper fare goes a big way to helping that but there are 

also things that we think Jobcentres could do when people are looking for work because we think that puts 

people off accepting jobs.  In the recommendations we have also put something about schemes and this is 

where we have to work with local councils and TfL to, for example, encourage people into cycling schemes and 

to get people who can perhaps cycle to the next zone.  There are all sorts of things you can look at. 

 

We have just put it on the agenda.  That was the key objective: to get it on the agenda before the Mayor’s 

election and we did that successfully.  We have a follow-up meeting with our partners later this month when 

we will look at what we might do next.  We would like to do a little bit of follow-up on that because we think 

the picture may have changed slightly and we would like to get some questions in the omnibus survey, but 

without further funding that is one of the things that will have to go to the back of the line, I am afraid.  It is a 

good piece of work but it is not in our top priorities. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you very much. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you, Janet, for coming in.  Thank you, Glyn, for coming in this 

morning. 

 

Page 48



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director Secretariat  
 

Date: 8 September 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 July 2016 

 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. Deputy Mayor for Transport 

During the course of the discussion, the Committee 

requested the following further information in writing: 

 Details of the work Transport for London and 

London Councils were undertaking on integration 

and joint commissioning of door-to-door transport, 

including Taxicard;  

 A timetable for the review of bus routes; and 

 The criteria and terms of reference for the review 

of London Underground ticket office closures. 

Ongoing.  The Chair 

has written to the 

Deputy Mayor for 

Transport to request 

the additional 

information. 

Deputy Mayor 

for Transport 

 

 

The Chair asked that London Councils be contacted for 

a copy of their Transport and Environment Committee  

(TEC) report on joint commissioning of door-to-door 

transport. 

Completed.  The report 

to London Councils’ 

TEC on social needs 

transport has been 

circulated to the 

Committee.1 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

                                                 
1 As published on the London Councils website: http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/29852  

Page 49

Agenda Item 4

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/29852


        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

9. London TravelWatch Board Member Recruitment 

The Committee established a panel, with the Chair and 

party Group Lead Members as members, to hold 

interviews for the appointment to three of the London 

TravelWatch Board Member positions for a period of 

four years until 31 December 2020 and an additional 

appointment for a period of two years until 

31 December 2018; and delegated authority to the 

Chair, in consultation with the other panel members, to 

agree the appointments to the Board of London 

TravelWatch, following interviews. 

Ongoing.  Recruitment 

for the appointments is 

underway, with 

interviews due to take 

place in October. 

Principal 

Committee 

Manager 

10. Transport Committee Work Programme 

Authority was delegated to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree a letter to 

the Secretary of State for Transport to request an 

update on plans for the devolution of suburban 

National Rail services to the Mayor and Transport for 

London. 

Completed.  The letter 

to the Secretary of 

State is attached to 

the report on action 

taken under delegated 

authority at Agenda 

Item 5.  

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 15 June 2016 

 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. Pedestrianisation of Oxford Street 

The Committee requested the following further 

information in writing from Transport for London (TfL): 

 Detailed data on incidents on Oxford Street and 

their causes; and 

 A follow-up to the suggestion that bus drivers’ 

views be canvassed on the safety of driving on 

Oxford Street. 

Ongoing.  The Chair 

has written to TfL to 

request the additional 

information. 

Managing 

Director, 

Planning, TfL 

 

 

Authority was delegated to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree a response to 

a forthcoming TfL consultation on Oxford Street 

pedestrianisation. 

Ongoing.  Awaiting 

formal consultation. 

Chair 

10. Transport Committee Work Programme 

Authority was delegated to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope 

and terms of reference for an investigation into road 

congestion in London. 

Completed.  The 

agreed scope and 

terms of reference are 

set out in the report at 

Agenda Item 6. 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

Page 50



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 9 March 2016 

 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. Transport Accessibility for Londoners with a 

Sensory Impairment 

During the course of the discussion, the Committee 

requested the following further information in writing 

from TfL: 

 Details of the proposed ‘bus stop bypass’ outside 

St Thomas’ Hospital and how the impact on sight 

impaired patients was being taken into account; 

 The reasons for some seats for disabled people on 

buses having no space underneath for an 

assistance dog; 

 Further details about enforcement of private hire 

licensing in connection with refusing to pick up 

customers with an assistance dog, including the 

number of such incidents, and what the TfL policy 

about enforcement is; and 

 What proof private drivers were required to provide 

where they claimed to have a dog allergy in order 

to be exempt from being required to pick up a 

customer with an assistance dog. 

Completed.  A letter 

from TfL’s Director of 

Public Affairs and 

Stakeholder Relations 

is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

Director of 

Public Affairs 

and Stakeholder 

Relations, TfL 

 

 

 

 

3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report 
  
 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1: Letter from TfL re travelling with a sensory impairment 
 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Dale Langford, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 4415 

E-mail:   dale.langford@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 51

mailto:dale.langford@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



5 July 2016 

Dear Richard 

London Assembly Transport Committee, 9 March 2016 

Thank you for passing on the letter of 15 March from Valerie Shawcross CBE. 
Sarah Teichler and I were pleased to attend the session on 9 March and 
discuss the work we do to ensure London has the most accessible transport 
network in the world.   

I have addressed your requests for further information in turn below. 

Details of the proposed ‘bus stop bypass’ outside St Thomas’ Hospital 
and how the impact on sight impaired patients was being taken into 
account 

We are confident bus stop bypasses provide safe routes for cyclists and 
pedestrians. However, we are conscious of the concerns raised by some older 
and disabled people and we need to make sure they feel safe crossing them to 
get to and from bus stops.  

To address this, last year we formed a working group including Royal National 
Institute of Blind People, Guide Dogs, Transport for All, Age UK London, 
London TravelWatch and Living Streets, as well as cycling campaign groups. 
The group has worked together to develop a trial of mini zebra crossings, 
starting this summer at six bus stops. These trials will consist of both video 
monitoring and shadowing vulnerable road users as they use the trial 
infrastructure.  

Following the trial, we will determine whether mini zebra crossings give older 
and disabled people more confidence using bus stop bypasses, and whether 
they should be installed at any existing bus stops.  

Richard Berry 
Transport Committee Scrutiny Manager 
City Hall 
Queen’s Walk 
London 
SE1 2AA 

Appendix 1

Page 53



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

We are conscious of the concerns raised by St Thomas’ Hospital and will 
discuss proposals for the area with them before we implement any proposals.  
 
The reasons for some seats for disabled people on buses having no 
space underneath for an assistance dog 
 
On our buses every priority seat has room between the floor and the seat to 
allow assistance dogs to sit underneath. Bus designs vary, so this means other 
seats may also be suitable for customers with assistance dogs to use. We 
encourage anyone with concerns to let us know the route and vehicle by 
contacting us on 0343 222 1234 or by emailing tflaccessibility@tfl.gov.uk and 
we’ll investigate further.  
 
Further details about enforcement of private hire licensing in connection 
with refusing to pick up customers with an assistance dog, including the 
number of such incidents, what the TfL policy about enforcement is; and 
what proof private drivers were required to provide where they claimed to 
have a dog allergy in order to be exempt from being required to pick up a 
customer with an assistance dog  
 
 

Under the Equality Act 2010: 
- a driver cannot refuse an assistance dog 
- a driver cannot charge a customer more because they have an 

assistance dog 
- a private hire company cannot refuse a booking because the customer 

has an assistance dog  
- the assistance dog should always be able to sit next to the customer 

during a journey.  
 
In the past year we have successfully prosecuted nine drivers and operators for 
refusing carriage or charging more for an assistance dog, resulting in the driver 
being fined and having their licence revoked. Five more cases are pending 
prosecution and four are under investigation. Enforcement relies on reporting, 
and our recent campaign to highlight the rights of assistance dog owners is 
complemented by a ‘Know your rights’ customer leaflet which encourages 
people to complain.  
 
When we go out and speak to local groups we encourage them to report any 
instances they are refused or charged more. We will continue to work with such 
groups to promote their rights to travel with their assistance dogs and 
encourage them to report incidents when they feel these rights have not been 
supported. This allows us to take appropriate action against those who do not 
comply with the law. 
 
A medical exemption certificate can only be issued if a driver has been 
medically checked by medical experts and proven to have severe reactions if 

Page 54

mailto:tflaccessibility@tfl.gov.uk


 

Page 3 of 3 
 

coming into contact with dog hairs. The exemption certificate would have to be 
carried by the individual at all times while working.  
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
David McNeill 
Director, Public Affairs and Stakeholder Relations  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  
 

Report to: Transport Committee   
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 September 2016 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the action taken by the Chair, Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, under 

delegated authority, namely to agree: 

 

(a) The appointment of John Stewart as Deputy Chair of London TravelWatch;  

 

(b) The scope and terms of reference for an investigation into road congestion in 

London;  

 

(c) A letter to the former Secretary of State for Transport to request an update on plans 

for the devolution of suburban National Rail services to the Mayor and Transport for 

London, as set out at Appendix 2; and 

 

(d) A letter of support to the Secretary of State for Transport in connection with the 

Transport and Works Act Order for the proposed extension of the London 

Overground to Barking Riverside, as set out at Appendix 3. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Under Standing Orders and the Assembly’s Scheme of Delegation, certain decisions by Members can 

be taken under delegated authority. This report details those actions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 5



        

 

 London TravelWatch 

3.2 At its meeting on 21 July 2005, the Transport Committee resolved:  
 

To delegate the Chair of the Transport Committee, in consultation with the Deputy Chair, to 
take action in accordance with the functions of the Assembly listed in respect of the London 
Transport Users Committee1 under the GLA Act 1999.  

 

3.3 Section 247 (6) of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 allows the Assembly to designate one or 

more members of the Committee to be deputy chairman of London TravelWatch.  On 26 July 2016, 

the Chair of London TravelWatch wrote to the Chair of the Transport Committee asking the 

Committee to appoint John Stewart as the Deputy Chair of London TravelWatch, following the death 

of the previous Deputy Chair.  The letter is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

Road Congestion 

3.4 At its meeting on 15 Jun 2016, the Committee resolved: 

 
That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to 
agree the scope and terms of reference for an investigation into road congestion in London. 

 

Devolution of Rail Services 

3.5  The Transport Committee, on 13 July 2016 resolved:  

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to 

agree a letter to the Secretary of State for Transport to request an update on plans for the 

devolution of suburban National Rail services to the Mayor and Transport for London. 

 

 Barking Riverside 

3.6 The Transport Committee, on 16 September 2004 resolved: 

 

That the Committee delegate a general authority to the Chair, following consultation with the 

lead Members of the party groups on the Committee, to respond on its behalf where it is 

consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 

consultation at a Committee meeting. 

 

3.7 As part of a consultation on the Transport and Works Act Order for the proposed extension of the 

London Overground to Barking Riverside, Alex Williams, Acting Managing Director of Planning for 

Transport for London, wrote to the Chair asking for a letter of support to be sent to the Secretary of 

State for Transport. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

London TravelWatch 

4.1 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed to appoint 

John Stewart as Deputy Chair of London TravelWatch until the end of his term of appointment on 

31 December 2018. 

                                                 
1 operating as London TravelWatch 

Page 58



        

 

Road Congestion 

4.2 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed the scope and terms of 

reference for an investigation into road congestion in London.  The scope and terms of reference for 

this investigation are set out in detail at Agenda Item 6. 
 
Devolution of Rail Services 

4.3 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed a letter to the 

Secretary of State for Transport to request an update on plans for the devolution of suburban 

National Rail services to the Mayor and Transport for London, as attached at Appendix 2. 
 

Barking Riverside 

4.4 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed a letter of support to 

the Secretary of State for Transport in connection with the Transport and Works Act Order for the 

proposed extension of the London Overground to Barking Riverside, as attached at Appendix 3. 

 

  

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 
 

5.2 Officers confirm that the scope and terms of reference for the Committee’s investigation into road 

congestion fall within the Committee’s approved terms of reference. 
 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1: Letter from the Chair of London TravelWatch; 

Appendix 2: Letter from the Chair to the former Secretary of State for Transport regarding the devolution of 

                    suburban National Rail services; and 

Appendix 3: Letter from the Chair to the Secretary of State for Transport regarding the proposed extension  

                    of the London Overground to Barking Riverside. 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

List of Background Papers: 

Member’s Delegated Authority forms 726 (London TravelWatch), 716 (road congestion), 718 (suburban rail 

devolution) and 723 (Barking Riverside) 

 

Contact Officer: Dale Langford, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4415 

E-mail: dale.langford@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 59

mailto:dale.langford@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



Appendix 1

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



Caroline Pidgeon AM, Chair of the Transport Committee 

London Assembly 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 

Dear Secretary of State, 

Devolving rail services in London 

I am writing on behalf of the London Assembly Transport Committee to request an update on 
plans for the devolution of suburban National Rail services to the Mayor and Transport for 
London. 

As you know, the Transport Committee called for devolution in 2015 and in our report, Devolving 
rail services to London: Towards a South London Metro, set out practical steps toward achieving 
this aim. 

The arguments in favour of devolution are very strong. There is cross-party consensus behind this 
reform, and it is supported by a large majority of rail passengers in London. The benefits that 
could be delivered by devolution include: 

 Higher capacity: TfL has invested in longer and more frequent trains on the London
Overground, reducing crowding significantly.

 Better reliability: TfL has increased the proportion of trains running on time on the London
Overground, enabled by strong performance management and incentives for the
operator.

 Integrated fares: By integrating rail services with the fares regime for TfL services,
passengers can expect simpler and cheaper fares.

 Better accessibility: TfL would improve station design and increase the number of station
staff to allow a turn-up-and-go service for disabled passengers.

 Economic development: As part of the GLA Group, TfL can coordinate its investment in
the rail network with wider strategies for the development of London’s economy.

5 July 2016 

Rt Hon Patrick McLoughlin MP 
Secretary of State for Transport 
Department for Transport 
Great Minster House  
33 Horseferry Road  
London SW1P 4DR

Appendix 2

Page 63



 
 

 Stronger accountability: Passengers will know they can hold the Mayor of London directly 
to account for their rail service. 

 
The Committee warmly welcomed the prospectus you published in January 2016, A new 
approach to rail passenger services in London and the South East, with London’s previous Mayor, 
as the starting point for further devolution. 
 
The next opportunity for transferring suburban rail services to TfL comes with the end of the 
South Eastern franchise in 2018. However, at the present moment it is not clear to the 
Committee or to rail passengers in London what steps have been taken toward devolution of 
these services. Passengers in south London and areas outside the capital expect to see the 
Government acting on the plans it set out. 
 
Meanwhile, we have also seen significant service failings on Southern services. It was expected 
that these services could be devolved to TfL in 2021, or earlier. We strongly believe this is part of 
the solution needed for these services, alongside ongoing investment in infrastructure.  
 
I would therefore like to request a full update from you on plans for rail devolution in London. I 
would appreciate a response at the earliest opportunity, copying in the Committee’s scrutiny 
manager on Richard.Berry@london.gov.uk.  
 
I look forward to future discussions on this topic. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Chair, Transport Committee  

Page 64



 
 

Caroline Pidgeon AM, Chair of the Transport Committee 
 

 

Appendix 3 

London Assembly 

   City Hall 

   The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 

 

22 July 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Secretary of State, 
 
London Overground Barking Riverside extension 
 
I understand that an application has now been submitted by Transport for London for a Transport 
and Works Act Order, to construct and operate the proposed extension of the London 
Overground network to Barking Riverside. I am writing on behalf of the London Assembly 
Transport Committee to express our support for the scheme. 
 
With plans for up to 10,800 new homes in the area, the Barking Riverside development is a very 
important scheme for London, and is required to help address the capital’s housing shortage. The 
development will also provide new healthcare, shopping, community and leisure facilities. Of 
course, it is important that when taking forward this development that flood risk is subject to 
rigorous analysis, and managed appropriately. 
 
Clearly, any major housing development requires excellent transport links to be viable, and 
ensure residents can travel easily for work and leisure. An extension of the London Overground 
service is a key part of creating these links. Since the London Overground network was devolved 
to TfL, it has consistently outperformed other National Rail services in London, with higher 
capacity trains, more frequent services and better reliability. It has become a vital part of 
London’s transport system.  
 
The proposal to extend the Overground should provide such links via the interchange at Barking 
with the existing c2c Fenchurch Street rail line and the District and Hammersmith & City London 
Underground lines. Of course, this scheme can and should be part of a wider transport strategy 
for the area, which would also ensure adequate road links between Barking Riverside and the 
surrounding areas. For instance, it is important that development is not cut off from the rest of 
the borough by the A13. State-of-the-art cycling infrastructure should be included, with design 
principles also taking into account the need to create a safe and pleasant pedestrian 
environment. 
 

Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP 
Secretary of State for Transport 
Department for Transport 
Great Minster House  
33 Horseferry Road  
London SW1P 4DR 

Page 65



 
 

 

For the benefit of those residents using the extended London Overground service, we would urge 
Transport for London and the Department for Transport to ensure the following standards are 
upheld: 

 A ‘turn-up and-go’ frequency of trains throughout the week. 

 Improved station ambience by deep cleaning and refurbishing. 

 A visible staff presence at every station from first to last train. 

 Improved passenger security with networked CCTV and Help Points at all stations, plus 
improved lighting and more stations gated. 

 Visual and public address systems providing real-time train service information. 

 High quality cycle parking facilities to promote cycling as a means of accessing stations. 
 
We expect that the proposals will be subject to consultation with local residents, businesses, 
transport users and other stakeholders. This is necessary, as we need to ensure the opportunities 
of this proposal are maximised, and any adverse effects avoided.  
 
I look forward to future discussions on this topic. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Chair, Transport Committee  

Page 66



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Traffic Congestion 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 September 2016 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report provides details of an investigation into traffic congestion and provides the background 

for a discussion of this topic with invited guests. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the terms of reference for an investigation into traffic 

congestion, as set out at paragraph 4.2; 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the report, puts questions on traffic congestion to the invited 

guests and notes the discussion. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Around 26 million journeys commence on London’s roads every day, providing an essential part of 

the transport network for commuters, visitors and businesses. Roads are managed by multiple 
organisations: 

 The vast majority of London’s roads are managed by London Boroughs. 

 Around five per cent of the road network (580km) comprises the TfL Road Network (TLRN) 
– these are mainly strategic roads, managed directly by TfL.1 

 Highways England manages motorways in London. 
 

3.2 London’s roads have been getting steadily busier and more congested for at least the last two years. 

Traffic speeds are falling and journey times are getting longer, bringing an economic cost to London 

and increasing pollution. All parts of London’s road network – central, inner and outer London – are 

considered to be congested. Key measures indicating rising congestion include: 

 A reduction in traffic speed. On London’s A-roads, average speed fell from 16.3mph in July 

2013 to 14.8mph in July 2015. 

                                                 
1 TfL is solely responsible for all of London’s 6,200 traffic signals, including those on Borough-managed roads. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 6



        

 Excess waiting times for buses have increased from an average of one minute in 2013/14 to 

1.2 minutes in 2015/16.2 

 Journey time reliability on the TfL Road Network (major roads) has fallen from 89 per cent in 

2013/14 to 87 per cent in 2015/16.3 

 

3.3 Congestion is associated with a number of different problems: 

 Longer and more unreliable journey times, affecting business productivity and disrupting 

Londoners’ lives. TfL has estimated that the total annual cost of vehicle delays on the road 

network is £5.5 billion.4 

 Air pollution derived from vehicle emissions, which impacts health and quality of life. 

 Reduced road safety, particularly for some vulnerable road users – cyclists, pedestrians and 

motorcyclists. 

3.4 In his election manifesto, Sadiq Khan stated that he would take measures to address traffic 

congestion, noting the continuing impact of this problem on Londoners and businesses. His 

proposals included working with utility companies to reduce roadworks, working with the freight 

industry to reduce the number of lorries on the roads, delivering new river crossings in east London, 

encouraging use of the river for passenger and freight transport, and supporting car clubs.5 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The following guests have been invited to participate in the discussion: 

 Edmund King, The AA; 

 Dr Aruna Shivakumar, Imperial College; 

 Grant Davis, London Cab Drivers Club; 

 David Leam, London First; 

 Stephen Joseph, Campaign for Better Transport; 

 Jack Semple, Road Haulage Association; 

 Dr Rachel Aldred, University of Westminster;  

 Paul Gerrard, National Joint Utilities Group; and 

 Professor Stephen Glaister, Imperial College. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
2 The number of minutes that a passenger has had to wait in excess of the time that they should expect to wait if buses ran as scheduled. 
3 Percentage of journeys completed within an allowable excess of 5 minutes for a standard 30 minute journey in the AM peak.  
4 TfL, Traffic Note 4: Total vehicle delay for London 2014-15, 2016 
5 Sadiq Khan, A Manifesto for All Londoners, 2016 

Page 68



        

Scope and terms of reference 

 
4.2 The terms of reference for the Committee’s review, agreed by the Chair under delegated authority in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, are: 

 To identify the reasons behind recent trends in traffic congestion in London; 

 To examine the impact of traffic congestion on London; 

 To consider the effectiveness of existing initiatives aimed at managing congestion, including 

national and international good practice; and 

 To explore proposals for new interventions to tackle congestion and reduce traffic, and make 

recommendations to the Mayor and Transport for London. 

4.3 In scoping research for the Committee’s investigation, a number of different approaches have been 

identified with regards to how congestion can be tackled.  A wide range of interventions can and 

have been taken within these approaches, which are not mutually exclusive.  In summary, the 

Committee’s investigation will seek to explore the issue of congestion by considering the following 

approaches: 

 Charging for road usage - TfL operates the Congestion Charge scheme in central London, 

and pollution-based charges.6 Tolling of specific roads such as river crossings has been 

proposed. The Mayor also has the power to introduce a Workplace Parking Levy. 

 Measures to target specific types of vehicle - Heavy road users like commercial delivery 

vehicles, minicabs or private cars could be targeted with specific measures. There could also 

be efforts to reduce bus traffic. 

 Encouraging modal shift - Greater use of more sustainable transport modes, particularly 

public transport, walking and cycling, would help address congestion. This approach may 

also include other behavioural changes such as a shift from private cars to car clubs. 

 Providing new road infrastructure - There are proposals for new road infrastructure in 

London, including river crossings and tunnels, which TfL has considered or is now actively 

pursuing. These include, for instance, the Silvertown Tunnel across the Thames in east 

London, and a land-based tunnel from A40 at Park Royal to the A12 at Hackney Wick. 

 Maximising available road space - Space on London’s is often restricted by construction work 

or other roadworks. TfL uses measures such as a lane rental scheme to address this. In some 

cases, road space is diverted permanently for other key priorities such as cycling 

infrastructure or upgraded pedestrian space. 

Methodology and output 

4.4 The methodology for the Committee’s investigation includes: 

 Desk research, considering information on road conditions published by Transport for 

London, government departments, academics and other sources. This will seek to establish 

trends in congestion, causes, and identify effective interventions. 

                                                 
6
 TfL operates the Low Emission Zone, with an Ultra Low Emission Zone and Emissions Surcharge also proposed. 

Page 69



        

 Inviting written submissions from experts and stakeholders. Those consulted by the 

Committee include the Mayor’s Office and TfL, London boroughs, organisations representing 

road users, campaigners, transport experts and others. 

 Site visits. The Committee has conducted site visits to the Go-Ahead bus garage in Stockwell 

and TfL’s Surface Traffic Control Centre in Southwark. 

 Discussions at Committee meetings with leading experts and stakeholders. In addition to 

today’s meeting, the Committee will invite guests to discuss this topic at its meeting in 

October. 

 

4.5 The Committee is also exploring a proposal to commission some external research to support this 

investigation. This would be aimed at establishing the impact of road pricing on congestion, as this 

has been identified during scoping research as an area requiring more detailed investigation. Further 

details of this work will be announced. 

4.6 The output of the Committee’s investigation will be a report, making recommendations to the Mayor 

and Transport for London about how to address congestion. It is anticipated that this report will be 

published in early 2017. 

 

4.7 The paper inviting organisations and individuals to submit views and information to the Committee 

for this investigation is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

 

Appendix 1 – Paper inviting organisations and individuals to submit views and information to the Committee 

for the investigation into traffic congestion in London. 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4199 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 70

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Investigation into traffic congestion in London 
Transport Committee 
 
 

                                              1 

Introduction 
 
 
Traffic congestion in 
London 
 
 
Key questions 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 

 

The London Assembly’s Transport Committee has launched 
an investigation into traffic congestion in London, 
examining what the Mayor and Transport for London can 
do to reduce congestion.  

This paper invites organisations and individuals to submit 
views and information to the Committee, giving you the 
opportunity to influence our recommendations. We pose a 
number of key questions to be answered. 

Traffic congestion in London 

Following a long period of relative stability, London’s roads 
have been getting busier and more congested for at least 
the last two years. Average traffic speed has fallen, as has 
journey time reliability on London’s main roads. Excess 
waiting times for buses has increased. 

High levels of congestion exacerbate a number of serious 
problems facing London. Longer and more unreliable 
journey times affect business productivity, harming 
London’s economy. Air pollution from congested roads has 
a detrimental impact on Londoners’ health and quality of 
life. Road safety is also reduced on congested roads for 
vulnerable users such as cyclists, pedestrians and 
motorcyclists.  

The causes of these trends are complex. There have been 
increases in certain types of vehicle, such as delivery vans 
and minicabs. Effectively, there are now more vehicles 

using London’s roads, while some of the available capacity 
has been reallocated to other Mayoral priorities such as 
cycling, and construction work has constrained space 
further across the road network. 

Key questions 
In this investigation there are a number of specific 
questions the Committee is seeking to answer, as set out 
below. Respondents should address any questions where 
they have relevant views and information to share, and 
feel free to cover any other issues they would like the 
Committee to consider. 

General questions 

1. How has traffic congestion changed in London in recent 
years? Are there differences in the amount, time, type 
and/or location of congestion? 

2. What are the key causes of these changes in 
congestion? 

3. What impact does congestion have on Londoners, the 
city’s economy and its environment? 

4. What can London learn from other cities in its effort to 
reduce congestion? 

In addition to these general issues, the Committee has 
identified a number of different approaches to tackling 
congestion, most of which are already being used by TfL to 

P
age 71

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assemblys-current-investigations/londons-congested-roads


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Investigation into traffic congestion in London 
Transport Committee 
 
 

                                              2 

Introduction 
 
 
Traffic congestion in 
London 
 
 
Key questions 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 

 

some extent. We have posed a number of questions in 
relation to these different approaches and interventions. 

The six approaches outlined below are not necessarily 
mutually exclusive and could all be used to reduce 
congestion in London. The Committee will seek to 
recommend the most effective measures, ensuring an 
appropriate balance between the competing priorities 
Londoners have for their road network. 

Charging for road usage 

TfL already operates the Congestion Charge scheme in 
central London, and pollution-based charges are in 
operation or will be introduced.1 Tolling of specific roads 
such as river crossings has been proposed. The Mayor also 
has the power to introduce a Workplace Parking Levy. 

5. How effective is the Congestion Charge? How should 
this scheme be modified? 

6. To what extent would a usage-based road pricing 
regime help reduce congestion?2 

7. How might the Ultra Low Emission Zone and Emissions 
Surcharge affect congestion levels? 

                                                 
1
 TfL operates the Low Emission Zone, with an Ultra Low Emission Zone 

and Emissions Surcharge also proposed. 
2
 For instance this may entail charging vehicles by distance driven, rather 

than charging for entry to a specific geographical area. 

8. What would be the benefits and drawbacks of these 
other interventions? 
- Tolling for river crossings or other major infrastructure 
- Workplace Parking Levy 
- Devolving Vehicle Excise Duty to London 

Measures to target specific types of vehicle 

Heavy road users – like commercial delivery vehicles, 
minicabs or private cars – could be targeted with specific 
measures. There could also be efforts to reduce bus traffic. 

9. How can the Mayor and TfL reduce the number of 
delivery vehicles on London’s roads, especially in 
congested areas at peak times? 

10. To what extent is an increase in minicabs contributing 
to traffic congestion, and how could this issue be 
addressed? 

11. What contribution can car clubs make to tackling 
congestion, and how can the Mayor and TfL encourage 
these? 

12. To what extent could greater efficiency in the 
provision of bus services help reduce congestion, and 
how? 

P
age 72



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Investigation into traffic congestion in London 
Transport Committee 
 
 

                                              3 

Introduction 
 
 
Traffic congestion in 
London 
 
 
Key questions 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 

 

Encouraging modal shift 

Greater use of more sustainable transport modes, 
particularly public transport, walking and cycling, would 
help address congestion. 

13. How can TfL further encourage a shift from private car 
use to public transport or active travel modes? 

Providing new road infrastructure 

There are proposals for new road infrastructure in London, 
including river crossings and tunnels, which TfL has 
considered or is now actively pursuing. These include, for 
instance, the Silvertown Tunnel across the Thames in east 
London, and a tunnel from A40 at Park Royal to the A12 at 
Hackney Wick. 

14. Can new road infrastructure help reduce traffic 
congestion? What specific new infrastructure is required 
in London? 

15. To what extent is there a risk of new roads 
encouraging more people to drive? How can this risk be 
avoided? 

16. How should new road infrastructure be funded? 

 

 

Maximising available road space 

Space on London’s roads is often restricted by construction 
work or other roadworks. TfL uses measures such as a lane 
rental scheme to manage this. In some cases, road space is 
diverted permanently for other key priorities such as 
cycling infrastructure or improved pedestrian space. 

17. How effective are TfL’s measures to limit roadworks, 
such as the lane rental scheme? How can these measures 
be made more effective? 

18. What effect has the additional space provided for 
cycling and pedestrian infrastructure had on congestion? 

Active traffic management 

TfL uses technology to monitor and manage traffic, for 
instance altering traffic signals to respond to incidents 
causing congestion. It has also recently introduced a Road 
and Transport Enforcement team to provide an on-street 
response. 

19. How can the use of technology be enhanced to help 
TfL manage congestion? For instance, how can the iBus 
system be used for this purpose? 

20. How effective has the Road and Transport 
Enforcement team been in tackling congestion? 

P
age 73



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Investigation into traffic congestion in London 
Transport Committee 
 
 

                                              4 

Introduction 
 
 
Traffic congestion in 
London 
 
 
Key questions 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 

 

How to contribute to the investigation 
We welcome submissions from any organisations and 
individuals with views and information to share on this 
topic. Submissions should aim to address any of the 
questions outlined above, and other issues you think it 
important for the investigation to cover.   

We are keen to hear from road users, organisations 
delivering services on roads, businesses, London boroughs, 
campaigners, transport experts and others. To contribute, 
please send submissions to the Committee by the deadline 
of 2 September 2016 using the details below.3 

                                                 
3
 We will publish written submissions online unless they are marked as 

confidential or there is a legal reason for non-publication. We may be 
required to release a copy of your submission under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000, even if it has been marked as confidential. 

About the Committee 
The Transport Committee examines all aspects of the 
capital's transport system in order to press for 
improvements for Londoners. The Committee monitors 
how the Mayor's Transport Strategy is being implemented, 
and scrutinises the work of Transport for London and other 
transport operators. 
 
Committee Members are: 

Caroline Pidgeon, Chair (Liberal Democrat) 
Keith Prince, Deputy Chair (Conservative) 
Kemi Badenoch (Conservative) 
Tom Copley (Labour) 
Florence Eshalomi (Labour) 
David Kurten (UK Independence Party) 
Joanne McCartney (Labour) 
Steve O’Connell (Conservative) 
Caroline Russell (Green) 
Navin Shah (Labour) 
 

You can find out more about the Committee’s 
investigations and read our reports here: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-
assembly/transport-committee  

 

 

Email 
submissions 

georgina.wells@london.gov.uk  

Postal 
submissions 

Georgina Wells, London Assembly, City 
Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London 
SE1 2AA 

Further 
information 

020 7983 4510 

Media 
enquiries 

020 7983 4228 

P
age 74

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/transport-committee
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/transport-committee
mailto:georgina.wells@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 8 September 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned or ongoing scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and 

the schedule of Committee meetings for the 2016/17 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes its work programme for 2016/17 Assembly year, including the 

schedule of topics for forthcoming meetings set out at paragraph 4.6. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to respond to the Network Rail consultation on the draft West Midlands 

and Chilterns route study. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The Committee has discussed a number of priorities for the Committee’s work programme in 

2016/17.  The following is a list of topics that the Committee will aim to explore: 

 Pedestrianisation of Oxford Street; 

 Traffic congestion; 

 Buses; 

 Mayor’s Transport Strategy; 

 Night tube; 

 Tube stations – staffing and ticket office closures; 

 Cycling; and 

 Surface transport access to airports. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



        

4.2 In addition to the above topics, the Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the 

Commissioner of Transport for London (TfL). 

4.3 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed reports submitted to future meetings.  The Committee seeks to maintain 

flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments when scheduling its 

work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue beyond each Assembly 

year.  

 

Pedestrianisation of Oxford Street 

4.4 Following a pledge made by the Mayor’s in his election manifesto, the Committee considered 

a proposal for pedestrianising Oxford Street at its meeting on 15 June 2016  and a site visit on 

29 June 2016.  The notes from the visit will be considered at a future meeting. The Committee 

intends to submit views to Transport for London and the West End Partnership on the proposal. 

 

Road congestion 

4.5 The Committee has identified road congestion as a growing concern that the Mayor and Transport 

for London need to address in the near future.  Recent evidence suggests congestion has risen in 

London, with various causes cited including an increase in internet shopping, roadworks and the 

provision of private hire services.  Members are noting the scope of an investigation into congestion, 

with authority delegated to the Chair in consultation with party Group Lead Members to agree the 

terms of reference.  The Committee’s September and October meetings will be used to discuss this 

topic. 

 

Network Rail 

4.6 Network Rail develops route studies for the rail networks it manages.  Previously the Transport 

Committee has made submissions to consultations on draft route studies where these are relevant to 

rail passengers in London.  Network Rail is currently consulting on a draft West Midlands and 

Chilterns route study. It is recommended that the Committee delegate authority to the Chair in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members to respond to this consultation.  

 

2016/17 schedule of meetings 

4.7 The date of the next meeting of the Transport Committee is set out below with details of the main 

topic identified: 

 Tuesday 11 October – Road congestion. 
 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

Page 76



        

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4199 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 77

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript (Deputy Mayor for Transport)
	Minutes - Appendix 2 - Transcript (London TravelWatch)

	4 Summary List of Actions
	Appendix 1 - TfL Letter re Sensory Impairment
	London Assembly Transport Committee, 9 March 2016


	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Appendix 1 - Letter from Chair of London TravelWatch
	Appendix 2 - Letter to Secretary of State re Rail Devolution
	Appendix 3 - Letter to Secretary of State re Barking Riverside

	6 Traffic Congestion
	Appendix 1 - Traffic congestion - call for views and information

	7 Transport Committee Work Programme

